CELLULAR MECHANISMS OF THERMOSENSING IN OREXIN NEURONS

By

Natasha Belanger-Willoughby

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine

Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

October 2013

St. John's

Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Hypothalamic orexin neurons promote energy intake and expenditure. Thus, satiety and behavioural inactivity that accompany post-prandial rises in body temperature may, in part, be explained by the inhibition of orexin neurons. Using whole-cell patch clamp on rat brain slices. I investigated cellular mechanisms of orexin thermosensing. Orexin neurons are inhibited by elevated temperatures *in-vitro* but neighboring melanin-concentrating hormone neurons are not temperature-sensitive. Orexin neuronal inhibition is mediated by ATP-sensitive potassium channels, which are modulated by the UCP2 inhibitor genipin. Warming additionally revealed an increase in glutamatergic transmission (mEPSCs). This effect was attenuated by the transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1) channel inhibitor AMG9810, suggesting mediation by pre- and post-synaptic TRPV1 channels. Orexin neurons in rats overfed with high-fat western-diet had impaired thermosensing mechanisms. In conclusion, this study suggests that post-prandial thermogenesis inhibits orexin neurons to promote satiety and lethargic behaviours and additionally implicates a role for orexin thermosensing in diet-induced overconsumption.

Acknowledgements

It gives me great pleasure to acknowledge my supervisor, Dr. Michiru Hirasawa, who has provided exceptional guidance and mentorship and has taught me how to be a scientist. Her patience, kindness and knowledge have been of continuous support in all stages of my research study.

I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Xihua Chen and Dr. John McLean for many stimulating discussions and valuable suggestions as well as for the critical reading of this thesis.

I would like to thank lab assistant Christian Alberto for his technical assistance throughout this thesis and for teaching me all I know about patch clamping. In addition, I am grateful to lab assistant Dianne Codner for her help with immunohistochemical staining and phenotyping.

I would also like to acknowledge graduate student Victoria Linehan for her help with data collection for the feeding experiment and immunohistochemistry, and whom, along with graduate student Alex Dias and other lab-mates, have made my graduate experience one to cherish for years to come.

Most importantly, it is with deep gratitude that I thank my parents and loved ones for their invaluable support throughout the preparation and writing of this thesis. Without your constant support and encouragement this thesis would not have been written.

iii

Table of Contents

Abstr	act		ii
Ackn	owledge	ements	iii
Table	Table of Contents		
List o	f Figur	es	viii
List o	f Abbro	eviations	Х
Chap	ter 1: I	ntroduction	1
1.1	The hypothalamus is critical for homeostatic regulation		1
1.2	Hypothalamic nuclei and homeostatic control		1
	1.2.1	Hypothalamic control of energy balance	
	1.2.2	Hypothalamic regulation of body temperature	
1.3	Therm	noregulatory control of food intake	10
1.4	Thermosensitive neurons are necessary for homeostatic control		13
	1.4.1	Thermosensitive neurons as mediator of thermoregulatory control of food	
		intake	
1.5 Thermosensitive r		nosensitive neurons	14
	1.5.1	Known mechanisms for thermosensing	
1.6	Cellul	ar metabolism and role for uncoupling proteins	18
	1.6.1	UCP2	

1.7	Thermosensitive orexin neurons as a mediator of thermoregulatory control of fo	od
	intake	20
1.8	Rationale and objectives	21
Chap	oter 2: Materials and Methods	24
2.1	Animal Model	24
2.2	Electrophysiology	
2.3	Post-hoc immunohistochemistry	
2.4	Chemical compounds	
2.5	Statistical analysis	
Chapter 3: Results		
3.1	Current response to warming in orexin neurons	
	3.1.1 Orexin neurons are inhibited by increases in environmental temperature	
	3.1.2 MCH neuronal thermosensitivity is temperature-specific	
	3.1.3 UCP2 and NO synthesis modulates the KATP current response to warm	ing in
	orexin neurons	
3.2	Synaptic response to warming in orexin neurons 3	

	3.2.1	Warming facilitates excitatory transmission in orexin neurons	
	3.2.2	TRVP1 channels mediate the synaptic effect of warming	
	3.2.3	Synaptic response to warming is independent of KATP channel activation	
	3.2.4	UCP2 does not modulate synaptic response to warming in orexin neurons	
3.3	Effect	s of diet on thermosensing in orexin neurons	35
	3.3.1	Short-term exposure to western diet (WD) induces overfeeding	
	3.2.2	Thermosensing mechanisms in orexin neurons are susceptible to changes in	
		diet	
Char	oter 4: E	Discussion	37
4.1	Inhibi	tion of orexin neurons by rises in body temperature	37

4.2	Modu	lation of KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons by UCP2	39
4.3	Synap	tic effect of warming in orexin neurons is mediated by TRPV1 channels	40
4.4	Techn	ical consideration	41
4.5	Western diet alters the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons		44
	4.5.1	Western diet attenuates KATP current in response to warming in orexin	
		neurons	
	4.5.2	Western diet reduces the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons	

4.6 Physiological significance of warming-induced inhibition of orexin neurons

- 4.6.1 Thermoregulatory control of food intake
- 4.6.2 Western diet-induced impairment of thermosensing may contribute to caloric overconsumption
- 4.6.3 Thermoregulatory control of energy expenditure
- 4.6.4 Orexin neurons and the reward system
- 4.6.5 Orexin neurons in arousal
- 4.6.6 Other functions of orexin neurons
- 4.7 Conclusions

References

76

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Overview of mitochondrial metabolism and uncoupling proteins	54
Figure 2.	Overview of endogenous regulators and functions of UCP2	56
Figure 3.	Immunohistochemical phenotyping of orexin and MCH neurons	57
Figure 4.	Warming inhibits orexin neurons in a KATP channel-dependent manner	58
Figure 5.	MCH neuron thermosensitivity is temperature-dependent	60
Figure 6.	UCP2 modulates the KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons	61
Figure 7.	NO synthesis modulates the KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons	62
Figure 8.	Warming facilitates excitatory transmission in orexin neurons	63
Figure 9.	TRPV1 channels mediate the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons	65
Figure 10.	Synaptic response to warming is independent of KATP channel activation in orexin neurons	66
Figure 11.	KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons is independent of TRPV1 channels	68
Figure 12.	Synaptic effect of warming is independent of UCP2 activity in orexin neurons	69
Figure 13.	Short-term exposure to western-diet induces overfeeding	70

Figure 14.	KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons is attenuated by	
	short-term exposure to WD	71
Figure 15.	WD reduces the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons	73
Figure 16.	Cellular mechanisms of warming in orexin neurons	75

List of Abbreviations

ACSF, artificial cerebrospinal fluid

AgRP, agouti related peptide

```
AMG9810, (2E)-N-(2,3-Dihydro-1,4-benzodioxin-6-yl)-3-[4-(1,1-dimethylethyl)phenyl]-2-
```

propenamide

Arc, arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus

BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor

BMI, body mass index

CART, cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript

cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate

GABA, gamma-aminobutyric acid

KATP, ATP-sensitive potassium

LC. locus coeruleus

LH, lateral hypothalamus

L-NAME, L-NG-Nitroarginine methyl ester

LPS, lipopolysaccharide

MCH, melanin concentrating hormone

MCHR1, melanin concentrating hormone receptor 1

mEPSC, miniature excitatory postsynaptic current

mIPSC, miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current

NAcc, nucleus accumbens

NO, nitric oxide

NOS, nitric oxide synthase

NPY, neuropeptide Y

OX1, orexin receptor 1

OX2, orexin receptor 2

PFA, perifornical area

PI3K, phosphoinositide 3-kinase

PKA, protein kinase A

PKC, protein kinase C

PKG, protein kinase G

PO/AH, preoptic anterior hypothalamus

POMC, pro-opiomelanocortin

PVN, paraventricular nucleus

Ras, rat sarcoma

sEPSC, spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic current

SUR, sulphonylurea receptor

TRPV, transient receptor potential vanilloid

TRPV1, transient receptor potential vanilloid-1

TTX, tetrodotoxin

UCP, uncoupling protein

UCP2. uncoupling protein-2

VMH, ventromedial hypothalamus

VTA, ventral tegmental area

 α -MSH, α -melanocyte stimulating hormone

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The hypothalamus is critical for homeostatic regulation

Homeostasis is the maintenance of the body's internal milieu at a relatively constant condition. The maintenance of a stable internal environment is a remarkably large job for a relatively small brain structure: the hypothalamus. The hypothalamus integrates peripheral signals and communicates with numerous brain regions and peripheral targets using a variety of neurohormones and synaptic connections to carry out its functions. The hypothalamus regulates body temperature, food intake, energy expenditure, the sleep-wake cycle, motivated behaviours, thirst and circadian rhythm among other physiological functions. The hypothalamus essentially functions as a biological thermostat: it operates using a physiological set-point. If internal or external factors result in a deviation from this set-point, the hypothalamus works to correct this divergence. Good examples of the maintenance of a hypothalamic set-point are the defense of a particular body weight by balancing energy intake and expenditure (Keesey and Corbett, 1984), or the strict maintenance of a stable internal body temperature despite changes in ambient temperature (Kurz, 2008).

1.2 Hypothalamic nuclei and homeostatic control

The hypothalamus is divided up into various distinct nuclei that carry out specific functions. Several of these nuclei will be discussed in detail as they pertain to hypothalamic

regulation of energy balance and body temperature, as these topics will become the focus of the present thesis.

1.2.1 Hypothalamic control of energy balance

1.2.1.1 Lateral hypothalamus and perifornical area in the control of energy balance

The lateral hypothalamus and perifornical area (LH/PFA) have been long-known to play an important role in energy homeostasis. Early studies have demonstrated that LH/PFA lesions reduce food intake (Anand and Brobeck, 1951b;Grossman et al., 1978;Stricker et al., 1978) often to the point of starvation (Anand and Brobeck, 1951a). In addition to anorexia, LH/PFA lesions increase energy expenditure which is associated with elevated motor activity (Morrison, 1968). What is more, electrical stimulation of the LH/PFA in cats was demonstrated to induce hyperphagia (Delgado and Anand, 1953). Together, these and similar studies implicated the LH/PFA as the "feeding centre" of the brain (Elmquist et al., 1999). Two neuronal populations exist within the LH/PFA that regulate energy balance: orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) neurons.

1.2.1.1.1 Orexin neurons

Orexin neurons produce the orexin/hypocretin neuropeptides, orexin-A and orexin-B (or hypocretin-1 and hypocretin-2, respectively) which are derived from the same precursor peptide. The orexin neuropeptides were first described by two independent research groups in 1998. One group called these newly discovered peptides hypocretins, a name derived from two words:

hypothalamus, due to the peptide's localization, and incretin, since its amino acid sequence is similar to that of the incretin family of hormones (de Lecea et al., 1998). Shortly thereafter, a second group coined the term orexin which comes from the Greek word for appetite, 'orexis', since fasted animals showed an upregulation of the orexin mRNA (Sakurai et al., 1998).

Although neurons containing the orexin neuropeptides are localized exclusively to the LH/PFA, they have widespread projections within the hypothalamus and throughout the brain (Peyron et al., 1998;Chen et al., 1999;Date et al., 1999;Nambu et al., 1999) and spinal cord (van den Pol, 1999). The densest extra-hypothalamic projection is to the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (LC) for promoting arousal, while other connections include the septal nuclei of the basal forebrain, thalamic nuclei, zona incerta, subthalamic nucleus, central gray, substantia nigra, raphe nuclei, parabrachial nuclei, medullary reticular formation and the nucleus tractus solitarius, among others (Peyron et al., 1998). This widespread distribution suggests that the orexins may play a neuromodulatory role in many brain regions (de Lecea et al., 1998).

The orexins are primarily excitatory neurotransmitters (de Lecea, 1998;Sutcliffe and de Lecea, 2000). Whole cell recordings of hypothalamic slices revealed that both inhibitory and excitatory miniature postsynaptic currents are facilitated by orexin (van den Pol et al., 1998). Two types of orexin receptors exist (OX1 and OX2), and are both responsive to the two orexin peptides. Orexin receptors can be found throughout the central nervous system, including the hippocampus, amygdala, hypothalamus, medulla, nucleus accumbens, pons, striatum, substantia nigra, thalamus, pituitary and spinal cord, among others (Hervieu et al., 2001;Cluderay et al., 2002). Orexin's effects are dose-dependent and operate via G-protein-mediated activation of plasma membrane Ca²⁺ channels which facilitate Ca²⁺ influx and cell depolarization (van den Pol et al., 1998). Intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of orexin-A increases food intake

(Sakurai et al., 1998;Haynes et al., 1999;Haynes et al., 2000;Rodgers et al., 2002) whereas the effects of orexin-B on food intake are inconsistent (Sakurai et al., 1998;Sweet et al., 1999;Edwards et al., 1999;Lubkin and Stricker-Krongrad, 1998;Haynes et al., 1999). In addition, both orexin-A and orexin-B increase motor activity, although the effect of orexin-B is less potent and the behavioural responses they elicit differ (Jones et al., 2001). Together, these studies suggest differential roles for orexin-A and orexin-B in energy homeostasis.

The expression of the orexin neuropeptides and their receptors are altered in different feeding states. For instance, fasting is associated with an increase in prepro-orexin mRNA (Sakurai et al. 1998), and orexin receptor OX1 and OX2 mRNA (Lu et al., 2000). Furthermore, genetic overexpression of orexin under conditions of high-fat diet can increase energy expenditure and protect against weight gain (Funato et al., 2009). Indeed, obesity-resistant rats have increased basal and orexin-A-induced physical activity and increased OX1 and OX2 mRNA expression (Teske et al., 2006).

1.2.1.1.2 MCH neurons

MCH-expressing neurons are localized in the LH/PFA as well as the zona-incerta. Hypothalamic neurons producing the MCH peptide were first described by Bittencourt and colleagues in 1992 (Bittencourt et al., 1992). Despite being densely intermingled with orexinproducing neurons in the LH/PFA, MCH neurons are an anatomically distinct neuronal population (Broberger et al., 1998;Elias et al., 1998;Peyron et al., 1998). MCH neurons, however, share many synaptic contacts with orexin neurons within the LH/PFA (Burt et al., 2011).

MCH neurons also play a role in regulating energy balance. Like the orexin-A, ICV infusion of MCH stimulates feeding (Ito et al., 2003;Rossi et al., 1999), and MCH expression levels are reversibly increased during calorie restriction (Qu et al., 1996). Deletion of the prepro-MCH gene results in reduced food intake and body weight, coupled with elevated locomotor activity (Shimada et al., 1998). In addition, disruption of the MCH receptor MCHR1 leads to hyperphagic, hyperactive mice that are resistant to diet-induced obesity (Chen et al., 2002;Marsh et al., 2002). It is also known that MCH expression is altered in different metabolic states. For instance, MCH is upregulated in leptin-deficient, genetically obese *ob/ob* mice (Qu et al., 1996), and ablation of MCH in ob/ob mice leads to a lean phenotype attributable to increased energy expenditure and core body temperature (Segal-Lieberman et al., 2003). Together, these findings demonstrate an important role for the MCH neuropeptide in regulating energy intake and expenditure.

1.2.1.2 Other hypothalamic areas involved in the control of energy balance

In addition to the LH/PFA, other hypothalamic nuclei have also been shown to play a critical role in the regulation of energy homeostasis, including but not limited to, the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus (ARC), the ventromedial hypothalamic nucleus (VMH), and the paraventricular nucleus (PVN). These nuclei are discussed in more detail in sections 1.2.1.2.1, 1.2.1.2.2, and 1.2.1.2.3, respectively.

1.2.1.2.1 Arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus

Two populations of neurons in the ARC modulate food intake. One population is neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related peptide (AgRP)-producing neurons, while the other population expresses α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH), derived from the precursor peptide pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), in addition to cocaine-and amphetamine-related transcript (CART) (Smith and Ferguson, 2008). The ARC is in close proximity to the median eminence, a circumventricular organ that lacks a proper blood-brain barrier. Thus, neurons in this region are thought to receive various peripheral signals conveying the energy status of the organism (Sainsbury et al., 2002).

NPY/AgRP neurons of the ARC promote positive energy balance. In fact, NPY is a potent orexigenic peptide that stimulates feeding when injected centrally (Clark et al., 1984:Levine and Morley, 1984). However, its activity is not required for feeding behaviour as mice deficient in NPY have normal food intake and body weight (Erickson et al., 1996). Furthermore, AgRP injected centrally also triggers food intake (Rossi et al., 1998). NPY/AgRP neurons project to other hypothalamic nuclei, including PVN, dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus, and the LH/PFA, through which they regulate feeding behaviour and energy expenditure (Morton and Schwartz, 2001).

Neurons expressing α -MSH/CART within the ARC promote negative energy balance. Indeed, ICV administration of these neuropeptides reduces food intake (Tsujii and Bray, 1989:Edwards et al., 2000). Deletion of the α -MSH MC4 receptor results in hyperphagia and obesity (Huszar et al., 1997), as does deletion of the POMC gene (Yaswen et al., 1999). Anorexic α -MSH/CART neurons have been shown to be directly inhibited by neighbouring orexigenic NPY/AgRP neurons (Sainsbury et al., 2002). Indeed, AgRP is the endogenous antagonist to MC4 receptors (Ellacott and Cone, 2004).

The two populations of neurons within the ARC are differentially regulated in obesity. For instance, the expression of orexigenic NPY and AgRP are upregulated in the hypothalamus of leptin deficient *ob ob* mice while the expression of anorexigenic α -MSH and CART are downregulated (Morton and Schwartz, 2001).

1.2.1.2.2 Ventromedial hypothalamus

Originally referred to as the "satiety centre", the VMH was shown to stimulate satiety, and thus, was thought to functionally oppose the activity of the LH/PFA as the "feeding centre", supporting a "dual-center" hypothesis for energy homeostasis (King, 2006). Indeed, in contrast to LH/PFA lesions, VMH lesions result in hyperphagia and weight gain (Sclafani, 1971:Debons et al., 1982). Additionally, electrical stimulation of the VMH impairs food intake in fasted animals (Wyrwicka and Dobrzecka, 1960;Oomura et al., 1967). More recent work has demonstrated that POMC neurons of the ARC activate neurons of the VMH to decrease food intake (Wisse and Schwartz, 2003:Xu et al., 2003). Overall, it is now thought that damage to VMH BDNF neurons or POMC projections to the VMH underly abnormal fat metabolism and feeding behaviours associated with VMH lesions (King, 2006).

1.2.1.2.3 Paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus

The PVN is primarily involved in regulation of the neuroendocrine system (Hill, 2012). The PVN contains magnocellular neurons, which release vasopressin and oxytocin from the posterior pituitary, as well as medial parvocellular neurons, which regulate the production of various pituitary hormones via the release of signalling peptides (Hill, 2012). However, early lesion studies implicated the PVN in the initiation of feeding (Sainsbury et al., 2002). The PVN is thought to integrate information about energy homeostasis from NPY/AgRP and α -MSH/CART neurons of the ARC as well as the POMC neurons of the nucleus of the solitary tract (Ellacott and Cone, 2004). Release of α -MSH from POMC neurons of the ARC directly activates MC4s in the PVN to promote satiety (Hill, 2012). Meanwhile, orexigenic NPY neurons inhibit PVN activity through direct innervations of parvocellular neurons (Hill, 2012). Thus, the PVN provides an interface where neuropeptides regulating energy balance can act on the neuroendocrine system.

1.2.2 Hypothalamic regulation of body temperature

The maintenance of a stable core body temperature (CBT) is vital for survival in homeotherms (Nakamura, 2011). CBT in homeotherms is optimized to facilitate metabolic processes and bodily function. The hypothalamus is a critical brain region in controlling the thermogenic set-point of the body; large deviations from this set-point are likely to result in organ failure and death. Indeed, the hypothalamus integrates body temperature information with control of sympathetic activity to preserve a relatively constant body temperature despite environmental thermal challenges. In addition to maintaining CBT, the hypothalamus also

mediates the rise in body temperature associated with the febrile response, in order to slow the growth of pathogens and facilitate host immune activity for rapid recovery from infection (Nakamura, 2011). The preoptic and anterior hypothalamus (PO/AH) and the LH/PFA, as discussed in sections 1.2.2.1 and 1.2.2.2, respectively, both play a role in the central homeostatic regulation of CBT.

1.2.2.1 Preoptic and anterior hypothalamus in thermoregulation

The PO/AH has been suggested to be the "thermoregulatory center" of the body, where information from peripheral and central thermosensors converge (Nakamura, 2011). Indeed, the PO/AH receives thermal information from peripheral sensory neurons of the dorsal horn via the lateral parabrachial nucleus (Nakamura, 2011). In addition, local temperature changes are also detected by PO/AH neurons. For instance, local cooling of the PO/AH results in activation of thermogenic brown adipose tissue (BAT) (Imai-Matsumura et al., 1984) as well as vasoconstriction and shivering thermogenesis (Hammel et al., 1960). In contrast, local warming of the PO/AH facilitates heat loss via cutaneous vasodilation (Freeman and Davis, 1959) and salivary secretion (Kanosue et al., 1990) in rodents. Although the PO/AH is considered to be the chief regulator of thermal homeostasis, the LH/PFA also plays a role in thermoregulation.

1.2.2.2 Lateral hypothalamus and perifornical area in thermoregulation

The LH/PFA has been implicated in the regulation of CBT. Indeed, disinhibition of LH/PFA neurons by $GABA_{\Lambda}$ receptor antagonist bicuculline increases BAT metabolism and

sympathetic nerve activity (Cerri and Morrison, 2005). Retrograde transport of pseudorabies virus from inoculated BAT tissue has confirmed that both orexin and MCH neurons send projections transynaptically to BAT (Oldfield et al., 2002). Indeed, orexin-A administration is associated with sympathetic activity, increased BAT temperature, and increased abdominal temperature (Monda et al., 2003). Moreover, ICV administration of orexin-1 receptor antagonist SB-334867-A increases thermogenic uncoupling protein-1 (UCP1) mRNA expression in BAT of genetically obese *ob/ob* mice (Haynes et al., 2002), suggesting that orexin-A is an important regulator of the sympathetic nervous system. In contrast, ICV infusion of MCH in mice decreases UCP1 mRNA expression in BAT and reduces CBT (Ito et al., 2003). Thus, LH/PFA neuropeptides orexin and MCH have been associated with both the activation and inhibition of sympathetic BAT thermogenesis, respectively.

It has been suggested that food intake and sympathetic activity are reciprocally-related, such that activation of the sympathetic nervous system acts as a satiety mechanism to inhibit feeding activity (Bray, 2000). Furthermore, since orexin and MCH neurons project directly to hypothalamic feeding centres as well as transynaptically to thermogenic BAT, it has been proposed that these neuronal populations act as 'command neurons' (Oldfield et al., 2007), whose role is organizing coordinated changes in food intake and energy expenditure. The relationship between thermoregulation and food intake is discussed in the following section.

1.3 Thermoregulatory control of food intake

The rise in body temperature that occurs during and following food intake is known as post-prandial thermogenesis. There are two components of eating that result in rises in body

temperature. First, the thermic effect of the food itself, due to its breakdown, and second, the associated diet-induced thermogenesis as a result of sympathetic activity (Himms-Hagen, 1984). The theory on the thermoregulatory control of food intake proposes that post-prandial thermogenesis acts as a satiety signal to prevent overeating and hyperthermia (Brobeck, 1948). Indeed, when ambient temperatures are high, food intake is reduced, and when ambient temperatures are low, food intake is elevated (Brobeck, 1948). Other studies have confirmed an increase in food intake in the cold (Sanes et al., 1975;Fregly, 1954), and meal size has been negatively correlated with environmental temperature (Davies, 1977). Finally, increased ambient temperature is associated with lower body mass index (BMI) in humans, possibly via a reduction in appetite (Daly, 2013).

In further support of the thermoregulatory control of food intake, studies have confirmed rises in brain temperature associated with feeding (Abrams and Hammel, 1964;Rampone and Shirasu, 1964). For instance, food intake resulted in a mean rise in PO/AH temperature greater than 1°C in rats (Abrams and Hammel, 1964). A second study detected a mean feeding-induced rise in extra-hypothalamic intercranial temperature exceeding 0.5°C in fasted rats (Rampone and Shirasu, 1964). Moreover, local heating of the PO/AH reduces food intake (Andersson and Larsson, 1961;Spector et al., 1968). Together, these studies suggest that local changes in brain temperature can modify ingestive behaviour.

Changes in peripheral body temperature have also been observed with food intake. Indeed, De Vries and colleagues found the consistent termination of meals when the rat liver had a precise temperature of 39.3°C, regardless of meal size (De Vries et al., 1993). Although similar measurements cannot be performed in humans, skin temperature increases of 0.8-1.5°C (proximal to the liver) during and after meal consumption have been documented in man, remaining high 60-90 minutes after the meal (Westerterp-Plantenga et al., 1990). Thus, both central and peripheral body temperature changes can be observed with food intake and may contribute to the thermoregulatory control of food intake. However, the mechanism by which rises in body temperature during and after a meal promote satiety, or how these mechanisms respond to changes in energy status, are not fully understood.

1.3.1 Effect of energy status on thermoregulation

The metabolic status of an organism has a significant impact on thermoregulatory processes. For instance, the genetically obese *ob/ob* mouse has a reduced CBT, thus requiring less energy to maintain its body temperature and facilitating storage of excess energy as fat (James and Trayhurn, 1981). Moreover, diet-induced thermogenesis in BAT is defective in three types of obese animals, the genetically obese *fa/fa* Zucker rat and rats with obesity induced by hypothalamic gold thioglucose lesions or surgical hypothalamic lesions (Himms-Hagen, 1984). In addition to impaired thermogenic responses, obese *fa/fa* Zucker rats also show an impaired febrile response to LPS (Rosenthal et al., 1996). These effects may be explained by the fact that *ob/ob* obese mice have reduced sympathetic activity in BAT that leads to functional atrophy, coupled with a reduction in mRNA for uncoupling protein 1 in BAT, a protein that mediates the thermogenic effect of BAT (Reichling et al., 1988). Overall, if rises in body temperature are a signal for satiety, impaired diet-induced thermogenesis in obesity could predispose animals to overeat. Whether fundamental changes in thermoregulatory mechanisms occur during short-term exposure to high-fat foods, preceding obesity, remain to be determined.

In a state of negative energy balance, obese and normal-weight human subjects showed a reduced thermogenic response to food intake (Westerterp-Plantenga et al., 1990). Furthermore, fasted rats showed a reduced thermogenic response to LPS compared to fed controls (Inoue and Luheshi, 2010). This lack of thermogenic feedback during fasting could be a mechanism to promote food intake when energy stores are depleted. Overall, it has been suggested that the regulation of BAT thermogenesis is part of an energy buffering mechanism (Himms-Hagen, 1984), which can dissipate excess energy as heat and when defective, can result in an impaired ability to regulate energy balance.

1.3.2 Thermosensitive neurons as a mediator of thermoregulatory control of food intake

It is thought that the mechanism for the thermoregulatory control of food intake is a central mediator that is temperature-sensitive. Thermosensitive neurons are a good candidate for mediating the thermoregulatory control of food intake since they respond to central and peripheral thermal signals and are present in hypothalamic areas important for the regulation of food intake and energy expenditure.

1.4 Thermosensitive neurons are necessary for homeostatic control

In order to maintain homeostatic control of body temperature, it is vital for the brain regions responsible for thermoregulation to be able to detect temperature changes. Indeed, it is through the actions of temperature-sensitive, or thermosensitive, neurons that the PO/AH is able to integrate local and peripheral thermal information via neural connections to elicit the

appropriate thermoregulatory responses (Boulant, 2000). In addition to the homeostatic regulation of CBT, thermosensitive neurons of the PO/AH also play a role in homeostatic control of the cardiovascular system, central and peripheral osmolality, motor behaviours, emotional state, arousal, and reward (Hori, 1991). Thus, thermosensitive hypothalamic neurons may be important for coordinating both thermal and non-thermal homeostatic functions (Hori, 1991). Importantly, thermosensitive neurons may also be responsible for the homeostatic regulation of energy balance. For instance, glucose-responsive neurons of the LH/PFA involved in feeding behaviour are responsive to peripheral (Imai-Matsumura et al., 1984) and central thermal stimulation (Imai-Matsumura and Nakayama, 1983). However, the significance of thermosensitive neurons in the regulation of energy homeostasis remains to be elucidated.

1.5 Thermosensitive neurons

Various neuronal populations that have been implicated in thermoregulation respond to changes in temperature by adjusting their firing activity. There are two types of thermosensitive neurons: warm-sensitive neurons increase their firing in response to rises in brain temperature whereas cold-sensitive neurons increase their firing in response to decreases in brain temperature (Nakayama et al., 1978;Hori et al., 1980). The most widely-known thermosensitive neurons exist in the PO/AH, where they are known to play an important role in maintaining CBT. Early *in vivo* (Nakayama et al., 1961;Hardy et al., 1964) and *in vitro* (Hori et al., 1980;Kelso et al., 1982) studies confirmed that neurons in the PO/AH are temperature-sensitive. The majority of PO/AH neurons are temperature insensitive, however, approximately 30% are warm-sensitive and 10% are cold-sensitive (Kelso et al., 1982;Kobayashi, 1986).

In addition to the PO/AH, thermosensitive neurons have been found in numerous other brain regions, including the LH/PFA (Imai-Matsumura and Nakayama, 1983;Imai-Matsumura et al., 1984;Parsons et al., 2012), PVN (Inenaga et al., 1987), VMH (Imai-Matsumura et al., 1988), medulla oblongata (Kobayashi and Murakami, 1982), hippocampus (de la Pena et al., 2005), red nucleus of the midbrain (Asami et al., 1988), dorsal root ganglia (Babes et al., 2004), and superior cervical ganglion (Smith et al., 2004). Although some populations of hypothalamic thermosensitive neurons appear to be involved in the regulation of energy balance, the functional significance of extra-hypothalamic thermosensing neurons needs to be further explored.

1.5.1 Known neuronal mechanisms for thermosensing

There have been various neuronal thermosensing mechanisms described including activation of non-selective cation channels (Hori et al., 1999), ionic currents (Zhao and Boulant, 2005), inactivation of A-currents (I_{A}) (Griffin et al., 1996), modulation of hyperpolarizationinduced current (I_h) (Cai et al., 2012), activation of tetrodotoxin (TTX)-sensitive Na⁺ channels (Kiyohara et al., 1990), as well as activation of members of the TRPV family of channels, including TRPV1 (Sharif-Naeini et al., 2008), TRPV2 (Caterina et al., 1999), TRPV3 (Xu et al., 2002), TRPV4 (Guler et al., 2002), and TRPM8 (Peier et al., 2002;McKemy et al., 2002). Moreover, our previous study has confirmed orexin neurons are thermosensitive via KATP channel activation, which is a novel thermosensing mechanism (Parsons et al., 2012).

1.5.1.1 TRPV1 channels are thermosensitive

Increasing the bath temperature in the presence of KATP channel antagonists revealed an excitatory synaptic response in orexin neurons (Parsons et al., 2012). However, the channels mediating the synaptic response to warming in orexin neurons remain unknown. Thus, in the present thesis I have investigated the role of TRPV1 channels in the excitatory thermosensory response of orexin neurons.

TRPV1 channels are the most widely known member of the TRPV family of thermosensitive channels. TRPV1 receptors are multi-state cation channels that can be activated by the vanilloid capsaicin (found in 'hot' chili peppers), heat and low pH (Caterina et al., 1997), voltage (Voets et al., 2004;Gunthorpe et al., 2000;Piper et al., 1999) and lipids (Szallasi and Blumberg, 1999;Julius and Basbaum, 2001;Caterina and Julius, 2001;Clapham, 2003;Prescott and Julius, 2003;Cortright and Szallasi, 2004;Jung et al., 2004). TRPV1 channels are additionally regulated by kinases including PKA, PKC and CaMK11 via multiple phosphorylation sites (Rosenbaum and Simon, 2007).

Generally, TRPV1 channels are expressed in various cortical and subcortical brain regions (Toth et al., 2005). Specifically, TRPV1 mRNA and protein (Mezey et al., 2000) and TRPV1-sensitive glutamatergic terminals (Sasamura et al., 1998) have been localized to hypothalamic nuclei. Although TRPV1 channels are traditionally associated with the detection of noxious stimuli in the periphery, TRPV1 presence in the brain suggests that the receptor may play a different role. Indeed, hypothalamic TRPV1 channels have been shown to participate in synaptic transmission as their activation facilitates glutamatergic signaling (Karlsson et al., 2005;Yokoyama et al., 2009).

1.5.1.2 Orexin neurons are thermosensitive via ATP-sensitive potassium channel activation

ATP-sensitive potassium (KATP) channels are inward rectifier channels that are inhibited by ATP and activated by Mg^{2+} -bound nucleotides (Nichols, 2006). These channels have been proposed to act as metabolic sensors due to their unique ability to electrically respond to changes in the cell's metabolic state (Nichols, 2006). Indeed, when metabolism is low, KATP channels are active resulting in cell hyperpolarization and inactivity (McTaggart et al., 2010). On the other hand, when metabolism is high, cells are depolarized by KATP channel closing, leading to cellular activity (McTaggart et al., 2010). KATP channels are most widely-known for their role in regulating glucose homeostasis in the pancreatic β -cell. Indeed, KATP channels are activated and promote insulin secretion from the pancreas when plasma glucose levels are decreased (McTaggart et al., 2010).

Orexin neurons possess KATP channels with four identical pore-forming Kir6.1 subunits and four identical modulatory sulfonylurea SUR1 subunits (Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010). Although Kir6.2/SUR1 subunits for KATP channels are more common in neurons (Karschin et al., 1998;Thomzig et al., 2005), the Kir6.1/SUR1 subunit combination has been reported in cholinergic interneurons (Thomzig et al., 2003) as well as pyramidal neurons and interneurons of the CA1 (Zawar et al., 1999). Our previously reported mechanism of KATP-dependent thermosensing appears to be unique to orexin neurons (Parsons et al., 2012), as no other studies, to the best of our knowledge, have reported KATP channels to be a mediator of neuronal thermosensing.

Orexin neurons respond to elevated temperatures with an inhibitory, hyperpolarizing current (Parsons et al., 2012). Other populations of neurons inhibited by rises in temperature.

including those of the PO/AH, are thought to be interneurons that receive inhibitory synaptic input from local warm-sensitive neurons (Kelso et al., 1982). On the other hand, orexin neurons are intrinsically thermosensitive, as application of TTX to block action potential-dependent activity does not abolish their ability to respond to changes in temperature (Parsons et al., 2012).

Given that orexin neuron thermosensitivity is mediated by KATP channels, it is possible that the ability of orexin neurons to detect temperature changes is modulated by factors that regulate intracellular ATP production by mitochondria. However, whether KATP channeldependent thermosensing in orexin neurons is modulated by endogenous regulators of ATP synthesis is unknown.

1.6 Cellular metabolism and role of uncoupling proteins

Mitochondria are the metabolic energy-producing organelles of the cell. They are composed of two membranes, an inner and an outer mitochondrial membrane, separated by the intermembrane space. The innermost compartment of a mitochondrion is referred to as the matrix (see Fig. 1). During oxidative phosphorylation, hydrogen pumps in the inner membrane actively pump hydrogen ions out of the inner mitochondrial matrix and into the intermembrane space, creating a proton gradient. This gradient is used to drive the synthesis of ATP as hydrogen ions re-enter the matrix via the protein ATP synthase. Uncoupling proteins (UCPs) are mitochondrial proteins that uncouple oxidative phosphorylation from ATP synthesis (Fig. 1). UCPs provide an alternative pathway for displaced hydrogen ions to re-enter the inner mitochondrial matrix and diminish the proton gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane.

The activity of UCPs is therefore associated with reduced ATP synthesis and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, while releasing stored energy in the form of heat (Fig. 2).

There are several homologues of the uncoupling protein (UCP) family, including UCP1, UCP2 and UCP3. UCP1 is the most widely known UCP which is expressed in BAT and facilitates thermogenesis through its uncoupling activity. UCP3 is expressed in large quantities in muscle and BAT and its activity is known to be altered by thermogenic stimuli (Gong et al., 1997). UCP2 is the only uncoupling protein found in the brain (Fleury et al., 1997).

1.6.1 Uncoupling protein 2 modulates the activity of ATP-sensitive potassium channels

UCP2 is intensely expressed in the hypothalamus, the ventral septal region, the medulla, the ventricular system and the cerebellum (Sakurai et al., 1998). In addition to being expressed in the brain, UCP2 mRNA can also be found in BAT, white adipose tissue (WAT), skeletal muscle, gastrointestinal tract, macrophages, bone marrow, and organs including the thymus, heart, lung, kidney and spleen (Erlanson-Albertsson, 2003). Upon its initial discovery in 1997, it was proposed that UCP2 likely plays a role in energy homeostasis, including body weight, inflammation and thermoregulation (Fleury et al., 1997). UCP2 upregulation has since been associated with metabolic disorders, including genetic models of obesity such as ob/ob and db/db mice (Gimeno et al., 1997). Importantly, research in humans suggests that UCP2 mRNA expression in adipose tissue is positively correlated with BMI (Millet et al., 1997).

UCP2 appears to be significant for whole body thermoregulation. Indeed, UCP2 expression can be found in brain regions important for body temperature regulation, including the hypothalamus (Ricquier and Bouillaud, 2000), which provides sympathetic input to BAT to promote thermogenesis. Interestingly, orexin neuron-specific UCP2 overexpression in mice results in a reduced CBT and increased lifespan (Conti et al., 2006). Although these mice show no difference in food intake when compared with control animals, they reveal an increase in energy efficiency and hypothalamic temperature. This finding suggests that the uncoupling activity of UCP2 in orexin neurons is playing an important role in thermoregulation and longevity, likely by producing heat and reducing ROS production, respectively (Conti et al., 2006). Indeed, UCP2-expressing brain regions have been shown to have an increased temperature relative to UCP2-absent brain regions (Horvath et al., 1999).

1.7 Thermosensitive orexin neurons and the thermoregulatory control of food intake

Orexin neurons are inhibited by physiological rises (37-39°C) in bath temperature *in vitro* (Parsons et al., 2012). Consequently, the inhibition of orexin neurons *in vivo* could result from physiological processes that elevate body temperatures, including fever, food intake, exercise, or by environmental temperature fluctuations. Indeed, the inhibition of orexin neurons has been demonstrated during fever (Becskei et al., 2008;Park et al., 2008;Gaykema and Goehler, 2009) when body temperatures are elevated. Additionally, rises in ambient temperature are known to reduce food intake (Brobeck, 1948).

The ability for orexin neurons to respond to temperature changes within the physiological range, coupled with the role of orexin neurons in the control of energy balance, suggests a functional role for orexin thermosensing in the regulation of food intake. Since orexin neurons promote food-seeking behaviours, the inhibition of these neurons by elevated temperatures likely attenuates food intake and locomotor activity. Indeed, the inhibition of orexin neurons during fever has been proposed to be the source of sickness behaviours associated with infection

(Becskei et al., 2008;Gaykema and Goehler, 2009), including lethargic behaviours (reduced arousal or motivation) and anorexia (Konsman et al., 2002;De La Garza, 2005;Dantzer et al., 2008). Given that orexin neurons integrate control of food intake and sympathetic activity with thermogenic signals, these neurons could be the means by which increases in brain temperature attenuate food intake.

This hypothesis is supported by studies reporting an interaction between orexin-mediated food intake and body temperature. For instance, one study reports that under normal conditions, orexin-A administration (1.5nmol, ICV) induces hyperphagia when food is readily available, however, the same dose of orexin-A administered 6-hours prior to food presentation reduces food intake (Monda et al., 2003). The authors suggest that this effect is attributable to an orexin-A induced rise in body temperature (Monda et al., 2003). Indeed, orexin-A infusion into the third ventricle of the brain was previously shown to increase CBT in a dose-dependent manner (Yoshimichi et al., 2001). Thus, a rise in body temperature may attenuate orexin-induced eating behaviour.

In all, orexin neurons may be an important mediator of attenuated food intake during rises in body temperature, since they coordinate changes in energy balance by regulating thermogenesis and food intake. Furthermore, since orexin neurons respond to changes in energy balance, the regulation of thermosensing in orexin neurons could be altered in conditions of fasting or high-fat diet.

1.8 Rationale and objectives

Two key neuronal populations exist nearly exclusively within the LH/PFA, namely orexin neurons and MCH neurons. Both of these neuronal systems have been shown to be critical for the maintenance of energy homeostasis and play a role in thermoregulation. This thesis will focus primarily on examining the cellular mechanisms of thermosensing in orexin neurons.

1.8.1 Objective 1- Investigate potential modulators of KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons

Our previous work has demonstrated that warming causes the reversible inhibition of orexin neurons in a KATP-channel dependent manner. However, the mechanisms by which warming facilitates KATP current are unknown. Since UCP2 activity can modulate intracellular ATP and ultimately KATP channel activity. I explored whether this protein modulates KATP channel activity in orexin neurons during warming. Additionally, the role of nitric oxide synthesis in the thermosensing response of orexin neurons was also investigated.

1.8.2 Objective 2- Characterize the underlying mechanism for the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons

In addition to the inhibitory current response to warming in orexin neurons, I observed an additional excitatory synaptic effect of warming. In this thesis I describe the underlying synaptic mechanisms for an increase in excitatory transmission during warming, with an emphasis on the role of TRPV1 channels.

1.8.3 Objective 3- Explore the effects of high-fat diet on orexin thermosensing mechanisms

Orexin neurons are known to be sensitive to changes in diet. Thus, I tested the hypothesis that the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons are altered by short-term exposure to highfat, palatable diet. Potential modulators for the altered thermosensing mechanisms are discussed. **Chapter 2: Materials and Methods**

2.1 Animal Model

Male Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from a breeding colony at Memorial University of Newfoundland at 3 weeks of age and were housed in an Animal Care facility until sacrifice. Rats were fed *ad libitum* chow (LabDiet Autoclavable Rodent Diet 5010) or western-style diet (WD; TestDiet AIN-76A Western Diet, cat#1810060). Diet composition is as follows: 3.08kcal/g: 12.7% fat, 28.7% protein and 58.5% carbohydrates by calories for chow diet and 4.55kcal/g: 40.0% fat (from milk and corn oil), 15.8% protein and 44.2% carbohydrates by calories for WD. Food intake and body weight measurements were obtained just prior to sacrifice, as necessary. All manipulations were performed following guidelines set by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were approved Memorial University of Newfoundland's Institutional Animal Care Committee.

2.2 Electrophysiology

Whole cell patch clamp recordings were performed on acute brain slices obtained from 3-4 week old male Sprague-Dawley rats. Rats were anesthetized with 4% isoflurane, sacrificed by decapitation, and brains were quickly removed and placed into ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF), composed of (in mM): 126 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 1.2 MgCl₂, 18 NaHCO₃, 2.5 glucose, 2 CaCl₂, pH 7.3-7.35. Coronal hypothalamic slices 250µm thick were obtained using a vibratome (VT-1000, Leica Microsystems). Following dissection, slices were incubated
in ACSF at 32-35°C for 30-45 minutes, then at room temperature prior to recording. ACSF was continuously bubbled with O_2 (95%)/CO₂ (5%).

Patch-clamp recordings were performed with an infrared-differential interference contrast optics microscope (DM-LFSA, Leica Microsystems) using a Multiclamp 700B amplifier and pClamp 9.2 software (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Slices were perfused with ACSF bubbled with O_2 (95%)/CO₂ (5%) at a rate of 2.5-3.0ml/min. Cells were chosen based on their location and morphology; orexin and MCH neurons are localized to the LH/PFA, proximal and dorsal to the fornix, and are typically large in size (20-30µm) and round or oval in shape.

Recordings were conducted using conventional whole cell internal solution containing (in mM): 120 K-gluconate, 1 NaCl, 1 MgCl₂, 1 CaCl₂, 10 HEPES, 10 EGTA, 5 K₂ATP, pH 7.29-7.30 with KOH. Biocytin (1-1.5 mg/ml) was added to the internal pipette solution for post-hoc immunohistochemical phenotyping. Glass pipette electrodes had a tip resistance 2-5M Ω when filled with internal solution.

A temperature probe placed in close proximity to the slice and an in-line heater (TC-324B, Warner Instruments or HW-30, Dagan) were used to regulate and control the bath temperature. Experimental protocol involved increasing the bath temperature at a rate of approximately 3°C/min which was maintained at the peak for several minutes before returning to baseline temperature. For comparison purposes, control cells were always tested with the same temperature range as the treatment group.

When whole-cell access with a series/access resistance of $5-20M\Omega$ was achieved, a series of depolarizing and hyperpolarizing current steps were applied (-200 to +200 pA in 100 pA increments, 300-600 ms). Orexin and MCH neurons have distinct electrophysiological

characteristics. which in our experience are highly effective in differentiating phenotype (approximately 80-90% of cells selected in this manner are orexin or MCH-immunopositive) (Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010;Alberto and Hirasawa, 2010) (Fig. 3).

Whole-cell voltage clamp recordings were conducted at a holding potential of -50mV. Miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) were recorded with TTX (1 μ M) in the bath. Throughout the recording, -20mV square pulses were applied for 100ms to monitor series resistance. Experiments in which the series resistance changed by approximately >20% were excluded from analysis. At least two different animals were used for each experiment. Typically, two to four hypothalamic slices were obtained from a rat and 1 to 3 cells were recorded from each slice.

2.3 **Post-hoc Immunohistochemistry**

Immediately following experimentation, slices were fixed in 10% formalin and kept at 4°C for at least 16 hours. Slices were washed with PBS and treated with primary antibodies of goat anti-orexin-A (1:1000–3000; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA) and rabbit anti-MCH (1:1000–4000; Phoenix Pharmaceuticals, Belmont, CA, USA) at 4°C for 3 days. Slices were washed and treated with Cy3-conjugated donkey anti-goat, Cy2-conjugated donkey anti-rabbit and streptavidin-conjugated AMCA (1:500; Jackson ImmunoResearch, West Grove, PA, USA) and remained at room temperature in the dark for 3 hours before wash and mounting. Slices were mounted on glass slides using Fluorescent Mounting Medium (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) and stored at 4°C until viewing. A fluorescence microscope was used to visualize cells

stained with orexin-A (Cy3), MCH (Cy2) or biocytin (AMCA). Double-labelled cells confirmed cellular identity.

2.4 Chemical Compounds

Drugs were applied in the bath using a perfusion system. TTX was obtained from Alomone Labs (Jerusalem, Israel). Glibenclamide was obtained from Tocris Bioscience (Ellisville, MO, USA). Tolbutamide and N_{\odot} -Nitro-L-arginine methyl ester hydrochloride (L-NAME) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Genipin was obtained from Cayman Chemical Co. (Ann Arbor, MI, USA). AMG9810 was obtained from Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (Farmingdale, NY, USA). Antagonists and inhibitors were aliquoted and frozen until use. Drugs were applied in the bath for a minimum of 5-10 minutes before manipulating the bath temperature.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

Miniature postsynaptic currents, membrane potential and holding current were measured using Mini Analysis 6.0 (Synaptosoft) and Clampfit 9.2 (Molecular Devices). Paired and unpaired Student t-tests (one- or two-tailed) were used for two-group comparisons, while oneway ANOVA with Tukey post-test was used for multiple group comparisons. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for analysis of mEPSCs. Criteria for cell exclusion from mEPSC analysis include a frequency less than 100 events per minute or a change in mEPSC amplitude of more than 25% over the course of an experiment. Data points that were >2 S.D. away from the mean

were excluded from analysis. All data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 CURRENT RESPONSE TO WARMING IN OREXIN NEURONS

3.1.1 Orexin neurons are inhibited by increases in environmental temperature

We have previously shown that orexin neurons respond to both physiological and subphysiological increases in temperature with an inhibitory current (Parsons et al., 2012). I was able to replicate these findings using whole cell voltage clamp recordings, which revealed a reversible outward current with a bath temperature increase from 32 to 37°C in the presence of TTX (1 μ M; n=7, p<0.005; Fig. 4A, C). This suggests that the current response to warming is intrinsic to orexin neurons and is not mediated by synaptic inputs. As can be observed in the representative trace (Fig, 4A), the KATP current closely follows the bath temperature, suggesting that even subtle temperature changes elicit a response. Furthermore, as previously demonstrated by Parsons et al. (2012). KATP current can easily be visualized with a 2°C change in temperature (37 to 39°C). Parsons et al., (2012) also show that this current is KATP channel-mediated, as KATP channel-blocker tolbutamide (100 μ M) abolished the warming-induced current in orexin neurons (n=5, p<0.005; Fig. 4A, B). The inhibitory current response was observed with various subphysiological and physiological temperature changes, and the magnitude of the response did not differ between groups (Fig. 4C).

3.1.2 MCH neuronal thermosensitivity is temperature-specific

In order to determine whether thermosensing was specific to orexin neurons in the LH/PFA, local MCH neurons were also tested for thermosensitivity. Like orexin neurons. MCH neurons also showed a reversible inhibitory current by increases in bath temperature from 30-36°C (p<0.05, relative to baseline change; Fig. 5A). This effect persists in the presence of TTX, suggesting that this response is intrinsic to MCH neurons (p<0.05, relative to baseline change: Fig. 5C). However, when tested with a physiological temperature increase from 37 to 40°C, MCH neurons no longer displayed an inhibitory current response (Fig. 5B). Indeed, the response was significantly attenuated relative to the subphysiological range of 30 to 36°C (Fig. 5C). Thus, unlike orexin neurons. MCH neurons are not intrinsically thermosensitive within the physiological temperature range.

3.1.3 UCP2 and NO synthesis modulates the KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons

Since the activity of UCP2 is associated with a decrease in ATP production and is expressed in the LH/PFA (Richard et al., 1999), I hypothesized that this protein may modulate the KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons. Thus, the current response to warming was tested in the presence of UCP2 inhibitor genipin (50μ M). Genipin significantly reduced the peak inhibitory current response to a bath temperature increase from 32° C to 37° C in the presence of TTX (control n=7, genipin n=5, p<0.05; Fig. 6). This finding suggests that UCP2 activation in the postsynaptic neuron contributes to warming-induced KATP current. In addition to reducing ATP production within the cell. UCP2 activity is associated with a decrease in reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Fig. 1, Fig. 2) (Mailloux and Harper. 2011). ROS production, in turn, attenuates nitric oxide (NO) synthesis by disinhibiting enzyme NO synthase (NOS) (Kumar et al., 2009). Thus, UCP2 activity is associated with an increase in NO synthesis, which can subsequently activate KATP channels directly (Kawano et al., 2009) or via downstream pathways including Ras/PI3K (Lin et al., 2004;Mirshamsi et al., 2004) and cGMP/PKG (Chai and Lin, 2010;Negrete et al., 2011). Therefore, UCP2 could activate KATP channels by facilitating NOS activity in the postsynaptic neuron. Application of NOS inhibitor L-NAME (500 μ M) reduced the KATP current response to a bath temperature increase from 30-36°C in orexin neurons (control n=5, L-NAME n=6, p<0.05; Fig. 7). indicating that NO synthesis is important for modulating the postsynaptic response to warming in orexin neurons. This suggests that UCP2 could activate KATP current either directly by decreasing intracellular ATP and/or by facilitating NO synthesis.

3.2 SYNAPTIC RESPONSE TO WARMING IN OREXIN NEURONS

3.2.1 Warming facilitates excitatory transmission in orexin neurons

Although warming in orexin neurons results in an inhibitory KATP current response, the synaptic response to warming in orexin neurons has not yet been explored. Therefore, the synaptic effect of warming was investigated using voltage clamp recordings. Recordings were conducted with a holding potential of -50mV in the presence of TTX to block action potential-dependent transmitter release via membrane-bound voltage-gated sodium channels. Warming in the physiological range (37-40°C) revealed an increase in miniature excitatory postsynaptic

currents mEPSCs (Fig. 8A). Furthermore, warming in the subphysiological range (32-37°C) was also associated with a significant and reversible increase in the frequency of mEPSCs (Fig. 8B). A cumulative distribution of mEPSC frequency at 32°C and 37°C revealed significant differences between the two conditions in each cell tested (p<0.0001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov (K-S) test; Fig 8C shows one representative cell). Analysis of a group of cells revealed a significant and reversible increase in mEPSC frequency with a bath temperature increase from 32°C to 37°C (n=6, p<0.005; Fig. 8C, inset), suggesting an increase in presynaptic excitatory neurotransmitter release. In addition, differences between mEPSC amplitude distributions are also significant in each cell tested (p<0.0001, K-S test; Fig 8D shows one representative cell). Quantification of data from a group of cells revealed that mEPSC amplitude was reversibly elevated by warming (n=7, p<0.005; Fig. 8D, inset), implying that during warming orexin neurons have enhanced sensitivity to presynaptically-released excitatory neurotransmitter. The excitatory currents that were elevated during warming in my recording conditions are likely glutamatergic. Indeed, at the holding potential of -50mV, mEPSCs were inward currents and mIPSCs were outward currents since the theoretical reversal potentials for $GABA_{\Lambda}$ and glutamate receptors are approximately -65mV and -10mV, respectively. Consequently, I investigated the mechanism by which warming could facilitate glutamatergic transmission in orexin neurons.

3.2.2 TRVP1 channels mediate the synaptic effect of warming

One mechanism by which heat could facilitate excitation at the orexin synapse is via the activation of transient receptor potential vanilloid-1 (TRPV1) channels. TRPV1 channels are activated by warming, and are present in the hypothalamus (Mezey et al., 2000;Sasamura et al.,

1998) where orexin neurons are located. TRPV1 channel activation is associated with calcium influx and cell depolarization (Rosenbaum and Simon, 2007). Thus, I hypothesized that TRPV1 channels could mediate the increase in mEPSC frequency or amplitude observed with warming. To investigate this possibility, the synaptic effects of warming were measured in the presence of TRPV1 channel antagonist AMG9810 (500nM). When normalized to the 32°C AMG9810 baseline, the percent increase in mEPSC frequency by warming was significantly attenuated in the presence of AMG9810 (control n=6, AMG9810 n=8, p<0.05. Fig. 9A, B), suggesting that the presynaptic increase in glutamate release is mediated by TRPV1 channel activation. In addition, the percent increase in mEPSC amplitude by warming was abolished by AMG9810 (AMG9810 n=7, p<0.05; Fig. 9C) relative to control cells (n=7). These results suggest that preand post-synaptic TRPV1 channels mediate the increase in excitatory transmission during elevated temperatures in orexin neurons. It is important to note that AMG9810 does not completely abolish the increase in synaptic activity during warming, and thus another mechanism may also be involved.

3.2.3 Synaptic response to warming is independent of KATP channel activation

Since warming also activates KATP channels in orexin neurons, I explored whether warming-induced KATP channel activity could also account for the synaptic effects of warming. Tolbutamide had no effect on the warming-induced increase in mEPSC frequency with a bath temperature change from 32 to 37°C (control n=6, tolbutamide n=5, p>0.05; Fig. 10A, B). Furthermore, the KATP current response to warming was not correlated with the percent increase in the frequency of spontaneous EPSC (sEPSC) (R^2 =0.1525, p>0.05; Fig. 10C) or mEPSCs (R^2 =0.2035, p>0.05; Fig. 10D), suggesting that the increase in presynaptic glutamate release by warming is independent of the inhibitory postsynaptic KATP current. Furthermore, the postsynaptic increase in mEPSC amplitude with warming was not affected by tolbutamide application (p>0.05; not shown). In addition, a linear regression analysis revealed that the percent change in mEPSC amplitude with warming was not correlated with the simultaneous KATP current response (R^2 =0.009682, p>0.05; Fig. 10E). Moreover, bath application of AMG9810 in the presence of TTX had no effect on the outward current response to warming (control n=7, AMG9810 n=6, p>0.05; Fig. 11A, B). These findings suggests that during warming TRPV1 channels and KATP channels are activated simultaneously and independently of one another, with differential effects on orexin neuron excitability.

3.2.4 UCP2 does not modulate synaptic response to warming in orexin neurons

Uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2), which produces heat at the orexin synapse (Horvath et al., 1999), could be a modulator of excitatory transmission. In order to determine the role of UCP2mediated heat production on the synaptic effects of warming, UCP2 inhibitor genipin (50µM) was applied and thermosensitivity tested. Warming in the presence of genipin did not appear to abolish the excitatory response (Fig. 12A). Indeed, orexin neurons exposed to genipin showed no change in mEPSC frequency (control n=6, genipin n=8, p>0.05, Fig. 12B) or amplitude at 37°C (control n=7, genipin n=8, p>0.05, Fig. 12C). This finding suggests that UCP2 modulates the inhibitory KATP current response but not the synaptic response to warming.

3.3 EFFECTS OF DIET ON THERMOSENSING IN OREXIN NEURONS

3.3.1 Short-term exposure to western diet (WD) induces overfeeding

Orexin neurons integrate central and peripheral signals about energy status to control food intake and energy expenditure. Palatability of food and associated environmental cues can induce food intake via orexin signaling, leading to caloric overconsumption (Choi et al., 2010). Thus, if orexin thermosensing mechanisms are important for the regulation of food intake, it is possible that these mechanisms might be altered in conditions of high-fat, palatable diet in ways to promote overeating. Therefore, I hypothesized that orexin neuron thermosensitivity is impaired following exposure to western-style diet (WD). To test this hypothesis, rats were fed WD *ad libitum* for 7-11 days prior to sampling for *in vitro* experimentation. WD rats consumed significantly more calories than their chow counterparts over a 7 day span when fed *ad libitum* (chow n=5, WD n=18, p<0.0001; Fig. 13A). These changes in consumption preclude any change in body weight over the 7 day period (p>0.05; Fig. 13B). Body weight prior to experimentation was not statistically different between groups (p>0.05, not shown).

3.3.2 Thermosensing mechanisms in orexin neurons are susceptible to changes in diet

The thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons were evaluated in WD-fed rats. Orexin neurons from rats fed WD showed a reduced peak inhibitory current response (n=5) to warming compared with those from chow-fed controls (n=7, p<0.05; Fig. 14A, B). The reduced response was blocked by KATP channel inhibitors tolbutamide (100 μ M) or glibenclamide (200 μ M) (WD n=5, WD + KATP inhib. n=5, p<0.01; Fig. 14A, B). suggesting that the attenuated response is due to reduced KATP channel activation.

The synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons was also investigated in WD-exposed rats (Fig. 15A). WD had no effect on mEPSC frequency or amplitude at 37°C (chow n=6, WD n=7, p>0.05; Fig. 15B, D, respectively). However, WD blocked the increase in mEPSC frequency (chow n=6, WD n=5) and amplitude (chow n=7, WD n=5) observed with warming from 32 to 37°C with warming (frequency p<0.005, amplitude p<0.05, Fig. 15C, E, respectively). Overall, these results suggest that the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons are plastic and susceptible to short-term changes in diet that may contribute to overeating.

Chapter 4: Discussion

4 Cellular mechanisms of thermosensing in orexin neurons

The aim of this thesis was to examine the cellular mechanisms of thermosensing in orexin neurons. Our lab has previously shown that orexin neurons respond to rises in temperature with an inhibitory current mediated by KATP channel activation. In this thesis, I explored possible modulators of the warming-induced KATP current in orexin neurons. Additionally, I provide evidence that orexin neurons respond to warming with an increase in excitatory synaptic transmission, which is mediated by the activation of TRPV1 channels. Furthermore, I demonstrate that these thermosensing mechanisms are altered by short-term exposure to high-fat, palatable, western-diet, leading to food overconsumption.

4.1 Inhibition of orexin neurons by rises in body temperature

Our previous study has shown that orexin neurons are thermosensitive within the physiological temperature range (Parsons et al., 2012). Importantly, electrophysiological recordings from orexin neurons revealed a novel thermosensing mechanism: the reversible activation of inhibitory KATP current with an increase in bath temperature (Parsons et al., 2012). This finding indicates that orexin neurons are cold-sensitive. Whereas PO/AH cold-sensitive neurons are thought be indirect cold-sensors that receive inhibitory synaptic input from local warm-sensitive neurons (Kelso et al., 1982), orexin neurons are intrinsically thermosensitive, as

application of TTX to block action potential-dependent activity does not abolish the response (Parsons et al., 2012).

I examined the underlying thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons using whole cell patch clamping technique with a bath temperature increase from 32 to 37°C and from 37 to 40°C. Warming within a physiological and subphysiological range produced an inhibitory current response comparable with that of our previous study (Parsons et al., 2012). Thermosensing appears to be specific to orexin neurons in the LH/PFA, as I demonstrate that local MCH neurons are not temperature-sensitive within the physiological range. This finding is similar to that of our previous study which found that LH/PFA neurons of unknown phenotype (not orexin- or MCH-immunopositive) were also unresponsive to physiological temperature fluctuations (Parsons et al., 2012).

Together, these findings suggest that orexin neurons may be inhibited by increases in body and brain temperature within the physiological range, which occurs during fever (Dantzer, 2001), food intake (Abrams and Hammel, 1964;Rampone and Shirasu, 1964) and exerciseinduced hyperthermia (Nybo, 2012). Since orexin neurons promote food intake, energy expenditure and arousal, one would expect their inhibition to reduce food intake and promote behavioural inactivity. In support of this possibility, orexin neurons show a reduction in c-Fos immunoreactivity (marker for active neurons) following treatment with the fever-inducing pyrogen LPS (Becskei et al., 2008;Park et al., 2008;Gaykema and Goehler, 2009), which is not mediated by inflammatory cytokines (Grossberg et al., 2011). What is more, LPS-induced fever is accompanied by sickness behaviours including reduced food intake (Langhans et al., 1989) and lethargy (Grossberg et al., 2011;Dantzer, 2001), behaviours which can be attributed to the inhibition of orexin neurons. Importantly, although we have observed the direct inhibition of

orexin neurons by rises in temperature *in vitro*, further studies are required to confirm the functional significance of these data *in vivo*.

4.2 Modulation of KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons by UCP2

KATP channel activity is known to be modulated by the intracellular ATP/ADP ratio. Thus, the KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons may be mediated by a reduction in intracellular ATP which disinhibits these channels. Indeed, increasing intracellular ATP to 13mM abolished the current response to warming in orexin neurons (Parsons et al., 2012). Consequently, endogenous modulators of intracellular ATP could alter the current response to warming in orexin neurons.

One potential endogenous modulator of intracellular ATP is the uncoupling protein (UCP2). UCP2 reduces mitochondrial ATP synthesis by uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation from ATP synthesis. Consequently, one would expect the inhibition of UCP2 to cause a respective increase in mitochondrial ATP production, promoting subsequent KATP channel closure. UCP2 has been shown to modulate KATP channels in hypothalamic neuronal populations including POMC neurons of the arcuate nucleus (Parton et al., 2007) and MCH neurons of the LH/PFA (Kong et al., 2010). Furthermore, UCP2 is known to regulate insulin secretion in pancreatic β-cells by a KATP channel-dependent mechanism (Zhang et al., 2001).

Since UCP2 mRNA (Sakurai et al., 1998) and protein (Horvath et al., 1999) are expressed in the LH/PFA, I hypothesized that UCP2 may modulate the KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons. Using whole cell patch clamp technique, I found that UCP2 inhibitor genipin reduced the KATP current response to elevated bath temperatures in orexin

neurons, implicating UCP2 as a modulator of warming-induced KATP activation in orexin neurons.

In addition to diminishing ATP production, UCP2 activity reduces the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which in turn inhibits nitric oxide (NO) synthesis. Since NO can activate KATP channels both directly (Kawano et al., 2009) and indirectly (Lin et al., 2004; Mirshamsi et al., 2004; Chai and Lin, 2010; Negrete et al., 2011), UCP2 may modulate KATP current by increasing NO synthesis. Indeed, application of NO synthesis inhibitor L-NAME reduced the KATP current response to warming, suggesting that NO is important for the warming-induced inhibitory current in orexin neurons. In all, it appears that UCP2 modulates KATP channel-mediated thermosensing in orexin neurons by reducing ATP production and/or increasing NO synthesis.

4.3 Synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons is mediated by TRPV1 channels

In addition to the KATP current response, I demonstrated an excitatory synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons that was mediated by the activation of pre- and post-synaptic TRPV1 channels. These findings are in agreement with other reports demonstrating TRPV1 channel modulation of glutamatergic EPSCs in the nucleus of the solitary tract (Doyle et al., 2002;Shoudai et al., 2010;Peters et al., 2010), dorsolateral periaqueductal gray (Xing and Li, 2007), dorsal horn of the spinal cord (Nakatsuka et al., 2002;Baccei et al., 2003;Premkumar et al., 2005;Sikand and Premkumar, 2007), spinothalamic tract (Kim et al., 2009), striatum (Musella et al., 2009), locus coeruleus (Marinelli et al., 2002), substantia nigra (Marinelli et al., 2003), as well as the paraventricular hypothalamus (Li et al., 2004;Boychuk et al., 2013).

Since TRPV1 channel activation can induce NO synthesis (Okere et al.,

2000:Zschenderlein et al., 2011), this was a potential mechanism by which warming-induced TRPV1 channel activity could induce KATP channel opening. Thus, I investigated whether the KATP current and the synaptic responses are correlated. I found that application of TRPV1 antagonist AMG9810 did not abrogate the KATP current response to warming. Additionally. KATP channel blockers tolbutamide and glibenclamide failed to attenuate the synaptic response to warming, suggesting that the two responses are independent of one another. Together, these findings suggest that orexin neurons respond to warming with both inhibition and excitation, mediated by two independent mechanisms (Fig. 16). However, in our recording conditions, KATP channel activation usually predominates (Parsons et al., 2012) and the neuron is hyperpolarized despite depolarizing TRPV1 channel-mediated cation influx.

4.4 Technical Considerations

The present study conducted conventional whole cell recordings with a pipette filled with internal solution containing 5mM of ATP. This concentration reflects the estimated endogenously-produced ATP concentration in orexin neurons (Liu et al., 2011). The "clamping" of intracellular ATP in whole cell recordings may be problematic when measuring ATP-sensitive KATP current. Indeed, the KATP current responses observed in the present study were slightly smaller than those of our previous study (Parsons et al., 2012), likely a consequence of using a higher concentration of intracellular ATP in the recording pipette (5mM vs. 3mM). Indeed, increasing the concentration of ATP in the internal solution to 13mM abolished the warming-induced activation of KATP channels in orexin neurons (Parsons et al., 2012).

However, previous studies have observed KATP-mediated current using whole cell recording with an ATP-containing internal solution (Balfour et al., 2006; Ainscow et al., 2002; Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010; Parsons et al., 2012). This may be attributable to the idea that ATP levels in microdomains proximal to KATP channels are relatively unaffected by "clamping" of the intracellular ATP during whole cell recording (Abraham et al., 2002). suggesting that ATP introduced via the recording pipette may not significantly impair channel activity. Indeed, in the present study, KATP current was significantly increased during warming despite the use of 5mM ATP in the internal solution. Thus, although orexin KATP channels are sensitive to exogenous ATP introduced during whole cell recording, the use of endogenous levels of ATP in the internal solution does not block the activity of KATP channels. We confirmed that UCP2 modulates the KATP current response to warming in orexin neurons by demonstrating that a UCP2 inhibitor abolishes the warming-induced current. The UCP2 inhibitor genipin used in this study is a natural cross-linking reagent (Elzoghby et al., 2011). As a result, there has been some speculation as to whether the cross-linking activity of genipin could be mediating its effects on UCP2. To the contrary, genipin's inhibitory effect of action on UCP2 appears to be independent of its protein cross-linking activity, as a synthetic derivative of genipin that lacks cross-linking capability still inhibits UCP2 activity (Zhang et al., 2006). Instead, genipin is thought to act on UCP2 via direct protein-protein interaction. Thus, the inhibition of the KATP current response by genipin in the present study is likely attributable to the direct inhibition of UCP2 activity and not the cross-linking activity of the protein.

As discussed above, I observed an increase in synaptic activity with elevated bath temperatures in orexin neurons. It is possible that this increase in activity with warmer temperatures could simply be due to an increase in protein activity at higher temperatures.

facilitating vesicle transport and release. However, this would not explain the effect of AMG9810, which attenuated the synaptic response to warming in my recording conditions. Indeed, a warming-induced increase in EPSCs was reported in neurons of the nucleus of the solitary tract, which was specific to those expressing TRPV1 (Shoudai et al., 2010;Peters et al., 2010), arguing that this phenomenon is TRPV1-mediated and not simply a warming effect. The low frequency of mEPSCs observed in MCH neurons (less than 100 mEPSCs per minute in most cases) in my recordings has prevented analysis of these events for comparison purposes. Finally, although TRPV1 channel-specific binding has been demonstrated in the lateral hypothalamus (Roberts et al., 2004), future immunohistological study needs to confirm the presence of TRPV1 receptor expression in orexin neurons to substantiate these findings.

Interestingly, although relatively few orexin neurons display inhibitory postsynaptic currents (IPSCs) in my recording conditions, those that did appeared to display an increase in IPSCs in addition to EPSC's during elevated temperatures (not shown). For purposes of time, this finding was not explored in detail. However, it is a noteworthy observation given that an increase in IPSCs coupled with the inhibitory KATP current likely supports a prevailing inhibitory effect of warming, despite an increase in excitatory transmission. The overall inhibitory effect of warming was revealed in the majority of orexin neurons in our previous study using cell-attached recordings (Parsons et al., 2012).

4.5 Western diet alters the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons

4.5.1 Western diet attenuates KATP current in response to warming in orexin neurons

This study was the first to determine that the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons are altered by changes in diet. Short-term exposure to WD (7-11 days) significantly attenuated the warming-induced KATP current. The current was tolbutamide-sensitive, indicating that the impaired response was due to a reduction in warming-induced channel activity. However, the underlying mechanism by which WD reduces the warming-induced KATP current in orexin neurons has not yet been elucidated.

It is possible that the attenuation of the KATP current response in condition of WD is due to direct modification of KATP channel function or sensitivity. For instance, KATP channel sensitivity can be altered by exposure to lipids (Baukrowitz and Fakler, 2000). Since dietary fatty acids alter plasma free fatty acid (FFA) composition (Raatz et al., 2001), and a high-fat, high-sucrose diet is associated with elevated circulating FFAs in mice (Yang et al., 2012), it is possible that WD, which is high in saturated fatty acids, alters the thermosensing mechanism of orexin neurons by increasing circulating FFAs, directly affecting KATP channel sensitivity. Alternatively, a WD-induced change in intracellular ATP concentrations could also directly affect KATP current.

The modulation of the intracellular ATP/ADP ratio has also been shown to be important for regulating KATP channel activity (Dunne and Petersen, 1986;Misler et al., 1986). However, it has been suggested that the absolute levels of ATP and ADP, not their ratio, are important for determining channel activity, since ADP can activate KATP channels in β -cells in the absence of ATP (Hopkins et al., 1992). Indeed, ATP inhibits KATP channels by acting on the Kir6.2

subunit, whereas ADP activates these channels by binding with the SUR1 subunit (Schulze et al., 2007). Importantly, intracellular ATP and ADP levels in β -cells are susceptible to changes in glucose concentrations (Kakei et al., 1986;Cook et al., 1988;Ghosh et al., 1991;Detimary et al., 1996), which are likely elevated in WD-exposed rats. Thus, the results obtained in my WD-fed animals could be due to a diet-induced modification of the intracellular levels of the adenosine nucleotides (ATP or ADP) or their ratio, reducing KATP channel activation.

In addition to diet directly altering intracellular ATP levels, it is possible that the sensitivity of KATP channels to intracellular ATP could also be affected in a diet-dependent manner. Indeed, chronic (two month) exposure to a high-sucrose diet increased the sensitivity of pancreatic β-cell KATP channels to intracellular ATP, making the channels less likely to open in the presence of lower intracellular ATP concentrations (Velasco et al., 2012), an effect which was observed prior to the onset of type-2 diabetes. If short-term exposure to a high sucrose diet (one week) has a similar effect on orexin KATP channels, this may explain the reduced KATP current response to warming I observed in rats fed WD, which is also high in sucrose (34%). Further experiments will be required to determine if there is a similar mechanism at play in short-term WD-fed animals.

As mentioned previously, it has been suggested that changes in ATP and ADP concentrations fluctuate in the microdomains of KATP channels rather than global cytosolic changes. There have been several hypotheses for the potential candidates that could regulate ATP and ADP at the level of individual channels. For instance, creatine kinase (Krippeit-Drews et al., 2003) and adenylate kinase (Schulze et al., 2007) have been shown to modulate KATP channel activity. In addition, direct interaction with membrane anion phospholipids (Fan and Makielski, 1997), specifically, phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP₂) (Hilgemann and

Ball, 1996), as well as long-chain acyl-coenzyme A esters (Larsson et al., 1996) can modulate KATP channel activity. Thus, an alteration in KATP channel sensitivity by interaction with the nucleotides, lipids or proteins at the level of the microdomains could explain the altered channel thermosensitivity observed in WD-fed animals.

4.5.1.1 Western diet may attenuate orexin KATP current by a UCP2-dependent mechanism

The mechanism by which WD attenuates KATP-mediated current in orexin neurons remains unknown. However, it is known that the expression of UCP2 is susceptible to diet. For instance. UCP2 is upregulated in WAT after 7 days (Fleury et al., 1997) and 4 weeks (Matsuda et al., 1998) of high-fat diet feeding, suggesting that UCP2 may be upregulated in the WD-fed animals in this study. Exposure to a high-fat diet additionally increases circulating FFAs, which are known to activate UCP2 (Mattiasson and Sullivan, 2006). Thus, upregulation of UCP2 by high-fat diet or FFAs likely causes a respective decrease in ATP synthesis, facilitating KATP current. On the contrary, I observed a reduced KATP current response to warming in WD-fed animals. Admittedly, it is possible that an increase in circulating FFAs could increase ATP production in the cell due to increased energy availability, thereby decreasing KATP current in response to warming. Alternatively, since UCP2 also facilitates mitochondrial proliferation, it has been suggested that the intracellular ATP concentration is actually elevated by UCP2 activity in a tissue-specific manner (Diano et al., 2003). Thus, instead of reducing ATP production, upregulation of UCP2 by exposure to WD could increase intracellular ATP concentrations by promoting mitochondrial proliferation. In order to determine whether UCP2 mediates the reduced KATP current in WD-fed rats. it will be necessary to determine if UCP2 is functionally

altered in orexin neurons under conditions of WD, and if so, what effect this has on intracellular ATP concentrations, and ultimately, KATP channel activation by warming.

4.5.2 Western diet reduces the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons

The synaptic effect of warming in this study was also attenuated by short-term exposure to WD. Since TRPV1 channels mediate the synaptic effect of warming, it is possible that TRPV1 channel sensitivity was altered under conditions of WD. There are a number of factors which can alter TRPV1 channel sensitivity. In particular, it has been demonstrated that the TRPV1 temperature threshold for activation is reduced at low pH and in the presence of agonists. For instance, TRPV1 receptors can sensitize to a lower threshold of heat activation in the presence of capsaicin or extracellular protons by altering the free energy, biasing them towards an open state (Rosenbaum and Simon, 2007). Furthermore, various molecules and proteins can lower the threshold for activation of these channels, including ATP (Tominaga et al., 2004), tyrosine kinases and G-protein coupled receptors (Vellani et al., 2001; Tominaga et al., 2001). Inflammatory mediators, including prostaglandins, can also sensitize TRPV1 channels (Rosenbaum and Simon, 2007), suggesting that these receptors may be important in inflammatory disease states, including obesity. However, sensitization of the TRPV1 receptor does not explain the reduced channel activity observed in this study under conditions of WD. Indeed, if TRPV1 channels are mediating the effect of WD on the synaptic response to warming. it is likely through a desensitization of TPRV1 channels. One possibility that could explain these observations is that TRPV1 channels possess a self-regulatory process by which they desensitize over time. It is thought that the rise in intracellular calcium that results from channel activation in turn acts to reduce channel sensitivity (Rosenbaum and Simon. 2007). Thus it is tempting to speculate that a reduction in TRPV1 channel activity during *ad libitum* exposure to WD could be due to a desensitization of the receptor. This possibility would need to be demonstrated by a reduction in receptor activity in the presence of TRPV1 agonists or by immunohistochemical staining revealing a reduction in agonist binding. If so, TRPV1 channel desensitization could occur in WD when high levels of ATP are being sustained, such that TRPV1 channels become less responsive to rises in body temperature that would normally activate them.

4.6 Physiological significance of warming-induced inhibition of orexin neurons

4.6.1 Thermoregulatory control of food intake

The theory on the thermoregulatory control of food intake proposes that central heatsensors detect post-prandial rises in body temperature to inhibit food intake and prevent overeating and hyperthermia. In fact, factors that increase body temperature, including fever (Dantzer, 2001) and elevated environmental temperatures (Brobeck, 1948) are associated with reduced food intake.. Since orexin neurons integrate temperature-sensing capabilities and promote food intake, the thermosensing mechanisms of orexin neurons may represent a central mechanism by which rises in body temperature promote satiety. In support of this hypothesis, the inhibition of orexin neurons during elevated body temperatures results in anorexia (Langhans et al., 1989). An important caveat is that the regulation of feeding is a complex behaviour that involves more than just the thermosensing system. Indeed, many factors impact feeding, including learned associations, opportunity, social factors, time of day, gut peptides such as cholecystokinin and glucagon as well as endogenous hormones including leptin and insulin, among others (Woods, 1998).

4.6.2 Western diet-induced impairment of thermosensing may contribute to caloric overconsumption

Short-term exposure to WD attenuates the response to warming in orexin neurons. Since orexin activity promotes food intake and is influenced by food palatability and associated cues (Choi et al., 2010), the reduced temperature response following WD likely results in a disinhibition of food intake. Accordingly, compared to chow-fed animals, WD-fed animals are likely to overeat due to impairment in the ability to sense rises in body temperature that normally act as a satiety signal. Indeed, I found that animals exposed to WD over a 7 day period consumed more calories than their chow-fed littermates. It is of future interest to measure energy expenditure and locomotor activity, to see if these behaviours are also altered in early exposure to WD in an orexin-dependent manner. Overall, the disinhibition of food intake in orexin neurons upon exposure to a high-fat, palatable diet may be a contributing factor in high-fat diet-induced overeating which often leads to weight gain and obesity.

4.6.3 Thermoregulatory control of energy expenditure

As described above, orexin neurons also promote energy expenditure, thus the inhibition of these neurons could also explain lethargic behaviour associated with fever (Grossberg et al., 2011;Dantzer, 2001). Thus, I propose that the inhibition of orexin activity during elevated body

temperatures could be a mechanism to not only reduce food intake, but also physical activity. In fact, the sickness behaviours during fever would be advantageous for reducing energy expenditure to promote recovery from infection.

It is important to discuss that orexin neurons have many other roles aside from regulating thermogenesis and energy balance, which are likely affected by warming-induced neuronal inhibition. For instance, orexin neurons also play a role in reward, motivation, arousal, and neuroendocrine function.

4.6.4 Orexin neurons and the reward system

Orexin activity has been associated with consumption of palatable food in particular, suggesting that orexin is important for the rewarding aspects of food. For instance, reward-based feeding is thought to be mediated by ventral tegmental area connections with LH orexin neurons (Zheng et al., 2007). What is more, palatability of food and associated environmental cues can induce food intake via orexin signaling, leading to overconsumption and obesity (Choi et al., 2010). Moreover, orexin-A administration into the third ventricle induces consumption of high-fat diet (Clegg et al., 2002), which is known to be rewarding (Perello et al., 2010). Furthermore, glucose-sensitive neurons of the LH/PFA , which includes orexin neurons (Parsons and Hirasawa, 2010;Burdakov et al., 2006), are thought to participate in the regulation of motivated feeding (Oomura, 1988). Together, these data suggest that the inhibition of orexin neurons during rises in body temperature likely reduces the rewarding value of food. In support of this possibility, animals with LPS-induced fever demonstrate reduced motivation to obtain food rewards (Kent et al., 1992;Bret-Dibat et al., 1995;Bret-Dibat et al., 1997;Bret-Dibat and Dantzer,

2000;De La Garza et al., 2004), an effect which may be mediated by hypothalamic nuclei (Kent et al., 1996).

4.6.5 Orexin neurons in arousal

In addition to their role in promoting feeding behaviour, orexin neurons promote arousal and wakefulness. First, knockout of the orexin gene (Chemelli et al., 1999) and mutation of the orexin-2 receptor (Lin et al., 1999) were shown to produce the chronic sleep disorder narcolepsy. Second, orexin neurons are most active during waking and arousal (Lee et al., 2005;Takahashi et al., 2008), with maximal activity observed during exploratory behaviour in freely-moving animals (Mileykovskiy et al., 2005), and virtually inactive during sleep (Lee et al., 2005;Takahashi et al., 2008). Third, orexin neurons project to many brain regions involved in the maintenance of wakefulness, including the ventral tegmental area, nucleus accumbens, amygdala and prefrontal cortex (Alexandre et al., 2013), although the densest projection is to noradrenergic cells of the locus coeruleus (LC) (Peyron et al., 1998). Indeed, orexin A-induced activation of LC neurons was shown to promote arousal and locomotor activity in rats (Hagan et al., 1999). Likewise, fever, which is accompanied with a rise in body temperature, promotes lethargic behaviours, implicating orexin neurons as a potential modulator of this behavioural response.

4.6.6 Other functions of orexin neurons

In addition to their primary functions in energy balance, arousal and reward systems, orexin neurons also play a role in regulating neuroendocrine (van den Pol et al., 1998) and

autonomic systems (Nixon et al., 2012). An early immunohistochemical report confirmed that orexin neurons project to many brain regions responsible for regulating physiological functions such as blood pressure, body temperature, and neuroendocrine function (Peyron et al., 1998). Indeed, it has been demonstrated that ICV injection of orexin-A in vivo increases heart rate (Shirasaka et al., 1999;Zhang et al., 2005), respiration (Zhang et al., 2005), and blood pressure (Samson et al., 1999;Shirasaka et al., 1999;Zhang et al., 2005) while suppressing the neurohormone prolactin (Russell et al., 2000). Furthermore, orexin-A stimulated the release of various neurohormones from hypothalamic explants in vitro, including neurotensin, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, somatostatin, corticotropin releasing factor, and luteinizing hormone releasing hormone (Russell et al., 2000). Thus, the inhibition of orexin neurons by rises in body temperature could have widespread implications, including the modification of autonomic and neuroendocrine activity. In all, the inhibition of orexin neurons by rises in body temperature associated with fever, food intake, and exercise likely results in an altered behavioural state including reduced food intake, arousal, motivation and locomotion. These behaviours are characteristic of fever-induced sickness behaviours, for example, that promote recovery from infection.

4.7 Conclusions

In this thesis I have demonstrated that warming-induced orexin neuronal inhibition by KATP channel activation is modulated by the uncoupling protein UCP2. Warming additionally activates TRPV1 channels at the orexin synapse to facilitate excitatory transmission at both preand post-synaptic membranes. Since the inhibitory current response usually predominates over the excitatory response to warming, orexin activity is abolished by rises in temperature. Since orexin neurons promote food intake and energy expenditure and also detect physiological changes in temperature, it is possible that these neurons can utilize body temperature information to prevent caloric overconsumption. Thus, I propose that orexin neuronal inhibition may be an important physiological mechanism by which rises in body temperature promote hypophagia and behavioural inactivity. What is more, short-term exposure to western diet, which is high in fat and palatable, attenuates the ability of orexin neurons to detect changes in temperature. These findings may help to explain overeating that is associated with exposure to high-fat foods.



Figure 1. Overview of mitochondrial metabolism and uncoupling proteins.

Mitochondria are responsible for producing ATP, the cell's useable form of energy. During a process known as oxidative phosphorylation, electrons from donors (such as NADH) move down the electron transport chain and react with electron acceptors (such as oxygen) via redox reactions. Energy released by the electron transport chain is used to pump H⁺ ions from the matrix into the intermembrane space, creating a proton gradient across the membrane. The resultant proton gradient is used to transport H⁺ ions back into the matrix via the protein ATP synthase, which actively phosphorylates ADP into ATP. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are a natural by-product of oxidative phosphorylation that can result in cell damage.

Uncoupling proteins (UCPs) such as UCP2 uncouple the process of oxidative phosphorylation from ATP synthesis by providing an alternative pathway for H⁺ ions to re-enter

the matrix. UCP2 therefore diminishes the protein gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane, releasing energy in the form of heat. Thus, the activity of UCP2 is associated with a reduction in ATP synthesis and ROS production and an increase in heat dissipation.



Figure 2. Overview of regulators and functions of UCP2.

UCP2 is activated by high-fat diet (HFD) and free fatty acids (FFAs). In turn, UCP2 activity inhibits ATP synthesis and ROS production by uncoupling oxidative phosphorylation from ATP synthesis, diminishing the proton gradient across the inner mitochondrial membrane and releasing energy in the form of heat. Additionally, UCP2 increases cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentrations by reducing Ca²⁺ uptake by mitochondria. Finally, UCP2 has been shown to increase mitochondrial proliferation.



Figure 3. Immunohistochemical phenotyping of orexin and MCH neurons.

A. Post-hoc immunohistochemistry shows co-localization of biocytin (blue) and orexin-A (red) following whole cell recording with an internal pipette solution containing biocytin. B. Post-hoc immunohistochemistry reveals co-localization of biocytin (blue) and MCH (green) following whole cell recording. Scale bar is 20μm.



Figure 4. Warming inhibits orexin neurons in a KATP channel-dependent manner. Representative whole cell voltage clamp recording (A.) and summary graph (B.) showing that increasing the bath temperature from 32-37°C causes a reversible outward (inhibitory) current in orexin neurons in the presence of 1 μ M TTX (control, n=7). The warming-induced current is mediated by KATP channel activation as bath application of KATP channel inhibitor tolbutamide (100 μ M) blocks the current response (n=5). *C*. The current response is observed over various subphysiological and physiological temperature ranges. Each data point represents the response of an individual cell. Cells were obtained from different animals. The current

responses do not differ between the physiological range and the subphysiological ranges. The current was unaffected by TTX. ** p<0.005.



Figure 5. MCH neuron thermosensitivity is temperature-dependent.

A. Representative voltage clamp recording reveals that MCH neurons are temperature-sensitive within the subphysiological range (30-36°C). B. Voltage clamp recordings within the physiological range (37-40°C) reveals that MCH neurons are not thermosensitive within the physiological range. C. While the warming-induced current is apparent with warming at subphysiological temperatures (30-36°C), it gradually decreases as the temperature rises (32-37°C) until it is abolished at physiological temperatures (37-40°C). * p <0.05.


Figure 6. UCP2 modulates the KATP channel-dependent thermosensing in orexin neurons. *A*. Representative voltage clamp recording of an orexin neuron reveals that application of UCP2 inhibitor genipin (50μ M) abolishes the KATP current in response to warming in the presence of TTX. *B*. The magnitude of the current response to warming from 32-37°C is significantly attenuated by application of genipin (n=5), relative to the response elicited in control cells (n=7). ** p<0.05.





A. Representative voltage clamp recording of an orexin neuron reveals that NO synthesis inhibitor L-NAME (500 μ M) attenuates the KATP current response to warming from 30-36°C. B. The magnitude of the current response was significantly reduced in cells exposed to L-NAME (n=6) relative to controls (n=5). * p<0.05.



Figure 8. Warming facilitates excitatory transmission in orexin neurons.

A. In addition to the KATP current response, TTX application reveals an increase in excitatory transmission during warming in the physiological range (37-40°C). B. Time-course analysis reveals that mEPSC frequency is directly correlated with the bath temperature. Each line represents the response of an individual cell. C. Representative cumulative distribution for one cell reveals a significant increase in mEPSC frequency with a bath temperature increase from 32-37°C, which was significant in each cell tested (p<0.0001). Inset: There is a significant increase in mEPSC frequency with warming between 32-37°C (n=6). D. Representative cumulative

distribution for one cell reveals a significant increase in mEPSC amplitude with a bath temperature increase from 32-37°C, which was significant in each cell tested (p<0.0001). *Inset:* Increasing the bath temperature from 32-37°C was associated with a significant increase in mEPSC amplitude (n=7). ** p<0.005.



Figure 9. TRPV1 channels mediate the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons.

A. Representative traces reveal that TRPV1 channel antagonist AMG9810 attenuates the warming-induced increase in excitatory transmission in orexin neurons. *B*. Data presented represent groups of cells that are normalized to their own 32°C TTX baseline (dashed line). AMG9810 significantly reduces the increase in mEPSC frequency associated with warming from 32-37°C (n=8), relative to control cells (n=6). *C*. AMG9810 abolishes the postsynaptic increase in mEPSC amplitude with a bath temperature increase from 32-37°C (n=7), relative to control cells (n=7). * p<0.05, ** p<0.01.



Figure 10. Synaptic response to warming is independent of KATP channel activation in orexin neurons.

A. Representative voltage clamp traces reveal that KATP channel inhibitor tolbutamide does not

block the synaptic effect of warming. *B.* Tolbutamide (100µM) application has no effect on the percent increase in mEPSC frequency associated with warming (grouped data are normalized to own 32°C baseline control n=6, tolbutamide n=5). Furthermore, the KATP current response shows no correlation with the increase in sEPSC frequency (*C.*, $R^2 = 0.1525$), or mEPSC frequency (*D.*, $R^2 = 0.2035$) with warming (each data point represents the responses of one cell). *E.* The KATP current response is not correlated with the increase in mEPSC amplitude with warming ($R^2 = 0.009682$).

Α.

AMG9810 (500nM)





A. Representative trace showing that application of TRPV1 channel inhibitor AMG9810 (500nM) does not abolish the current response to warming from $32-37^{\circ}$ C in orexin neurons. B. Compared to control cells (n=7), the magnitude of the warming-induced KATP current is not affected by application of AMG9810 (n=6).



Figure 12. Synaptic effect of warming is independent of UCP2 activity in orexin neurons. *A.* Representative traces show that application of UCP2 inhibitor genipin has no effect on excitatory transmission in orexin neurons with a bath temperature increase between 32-37°C. *B.* Quantification of mEPSC frequency reveals no significant differences between mEPSC frequency of control (n=6) and genipin-treated (n=8) cells at 37°C. *C.* Genipin fails to significantly alter mEPSC amplitude at 37°C (n=8) relative to control cells (n=7).





A. Juvenile rats (3 weeks old) exposed to WD (n=18) for 7 days *ad libitum* consumed significantly more calories than rats fed chow *ad libitum* for the same length of time (n=5). *B.* Despite caloric overconsumption, rats fed WD for 7 days did not gain more weight than their chow fed counterparts over 7 days. *** p<0.0001.





Representative voltage clamp traces (A.) and summary graph (B.) reveal that orexin neurons from rats fed WD for 7-11 days showed a reduced KATP current response to warming (n=5) relative to chow-fed controls (n=7). The reduced response in WD- was mediated by reduced

KATP current activation, as KATP channel inhibitors tolbutamide (100 μ M) or glibenclamide (200 μ M) abolished the warming response (n=5). * p<0.05, ** p<0.01.



Figure 15. WD reduces the synaptic effect of warming in orexin neurons.

A. Representative voltage clamp traces from an orexin neuron obtained from a WD-fed rat show an attenuated synaptic response to warming. *B*. Quantification of mEPSCs reveals no effect of

diet on mEPSC frequency at 37°C. (chow n=6, WD n=7). However, the increase in mEPSC frequency with warming from 32-37°C was significantly reduced (*C.*) in WD-fed animals (n=7) relative to chow-fed controls (n=6). *D*. WD did not significantly alter mEPSC amplitude at 37°C (n=5) relative to chow controls (n=7). *E*. WD significantly impaired the increase in mEPSC amplitude associated with warming from 32-37°C (n=5) compared to chow controls (n=7). * p<0.05, ** p<0.005



Figure 16. Postulated cellular mechanisms of warming in orexin neurons.

Warming activates KATP channels in the postsynaptic membrane, leading to cell hyperpolarization. Simultaneous activation of heat-sensitive pre- and post-synaptic TRPV1 channels facilitates glutamate release and augments glutamate receptor sensitivity, respectively. Overall, elevated temperatures activate inhibitory KATP channel-mediated current in orexin neurons in addition to facilitating excitatory glutamatergic transmission onto orexin neurons by activating TRPV1 channels.

Reference List

Abraham MR, Selivanov VA, Hodgson DM, Pucar D, Zingman LV, Wieringa B, Dzeja PP, Mekseev AE, Ferzie A (2002) Coupling of cell energetics with membrane metabolic sensing. Integrative signaling through creatine kinase phosphotransfer disrupted by M-CK gene knockout. J Biol Chem 277:24427-24434.

Abrams R, Hammel HT (1964) Hypothalamic temperature in unanesthetized albino rats during feeding and sleeping. Am J Physiol 206:641-646,

Ainscow EK, Mirshamsi S, Fang T, Ashford ML, Rutter GA (2002) Dynamic imaging of free cytosolic ATP concentration during fuel sensing by rat hypothalamic neurones: evidence for ATP-independent control of ATP-sensitive K(+) channels. J Physiol 544:429-445.

Alberto CO, Hirasawa M (2010) AMPA receptor-mediated miniature EPSCs have heterogeneous time courses in orexin neurons. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 400:707-712.

Alexandre C, Andermann ML, Scammell TE (2013) Control of arousal by the orexin neurons. Curr Opin Neurobiol.

Anand BK, Brobeck JR (1951a) Hypothalamic control of food intake in rats and cats. Yale J Biol Med 24:123-140.

Anand BK, Brobeck JR (1951b) Localization of a "feeding center" in the hypothalamus of the rat. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 77:323-324.

Andersson B, Larsson B (1961) Influence of local temperature changes in the preoptic area and rostral hypothalamus on the regulation of food and water intake. Acta Physiol Scand 52:75-89.

Asami A. Asami F. Hori F. Kiyohara F. Nakashima F (1988) Thermally-induced activities of the mesencephalic reticulospinal and rubrospinal neurons in the rat. Brain Res Bull 20:387-398.

Babes A, Zorzon D, Reid G (2004) Two populations of cold-sensitive neurons in rat dorsal root ganglia and their modulation by nerve growth factor. Eur J Neurosci 20:2276-2282.

Baccei ML, Bardoni R, Fitzgerald M (2003) Development of nociceptive synaptic inputs to the neonatal rat dorsal horn: glutamate release by capsaicin and menthol. J Physiol 549:231-242.

Balfour RH, Hansen AM, Trapp S (2006) Neuronal responses to transient hypoglycaemia in the dorsal vagal complex of the rat brainstem. J Physiol 570:469-484.

Baukrowitz T, Fakler B (2000) KATP channels gated by intracellular nucleotides and phospholipids. Eur J Biochem 267:5842-5848.

Beeskei C, Riediger T, Hernadfalvy N, Arsenijevic D, Lutz TA, Langhans W (2008) Inhibitory effects of lipopolysaccharide on hypothalamic nuclei implicated in the control of food intake. Brain Behav Immun 22:56-64.

Bittencourt JC, Presse F, Arias C, Peto C, Vaughan J, Nahon JL, Vale W, Sawchenko PE (1992) The melanin-concentrating hormone system of the rat brain: an immuno- and hybridization histochemical characterization. J Comp Neurol 319:218-245.

Boulant JA (2000) Role of the preoptic-anterior hypothalamus in thermoregulation and fever. Clin Infect Dis 31 Suppl 5:S157-S161. Boychuk CR, Zsombok A, Tasker JG, Smith BN (2013) Rapid Glucocorticoid-Induced Activation of TRP and CB1 Receptors Causes Biphasic Modulation of Glutamate Release in Gastric-Related Hypothalamic Preautonomic Neurons. Front Neurosci 7:3.

Bray GA (2000) Reciprocal relation of food intake and sympathetic activity: experimental observations and clinical implications. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 24 Suppl 2:88-17.

Bret-Dibat JL, Bluthe RM, Kent S, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (1995) Lipopolysaecharide and interleukin-1 depress food-motivated behavior in mice by a vagal-mediated mechanism. Brain Behav Immun 9:242-246.

Bret-Dibat JL, Creminon C, Couraud JY, Kelley KW, Dantzer R, Kent S (1997) Systemic capsaicin pretreatment fails to block the decrease in food-motivated behavior induced by lipopolysaccharide and interleukin-1beta. Brain Res Bull 42:443-449.

Bret-Dibat JL, Dantzer R (2000) Cholecystokinin receptors do not mediate the suppression of food-motivated behavior by lipopolysaccharide and interleukin-1 beta in mice. Physiol Behav 69:325-331.

Brobeck JR (1948) Food intake as a mechanism of temperature regulation. Yale J Biol Med 20:545-552.

Broberger C, de Lecea L, Sutcliffe JG, Hokfelt T (1998) Hypocretimorexin- and melaninconcentrating hormone-expressing cells form distinct populations in the rodent lateral hypothalamus: relationship to the neuropeptide Y and agouti gene-related protein systems. J Comp Neurol 402:460-474. Burdakov D, Jensen I T, Alexopoulos H, Williams RH, Fearon IM, O'Kelly I, Gerasimenko O, Eugger F, Verkhratsky X (2006) Tandem-pore K+ channels mediate inhibition of orexin neurons by glucose. Neuron 50:711-722.

Burt J. Alberto CO, Parsons MP, Hirasawa M (2014) Local network regulation of orexin neurons in the lateral hypothalamus. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 301:R572-R580.

Cai C. Meng X. He J. Wu H. Zou F (2012) Effects of ZD7288 on firing pattern of thermosensitive neurons isolated from hypothalamus. Neurosci Lett 506:336-341.

Caterina MJ, Julius D (2001) The vanilloid receptor: a molecular gateway to the pain pathway. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:487-517.

Caterina MJ, Rosen TA, Tominaga M, Brake AJ, Julius D (1999) A capsaicin-receptor homologue with a high threshold for noxious heat. Nature 398:436-441.

Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M, Rosen TA, Levine JD, Julius D (1997) The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature 389:816-824.

Cerri M, Morrison SF (2005) Activation of lateral hypothalamic neurons stimulates brown adipose tissue thermogenesis. Neuroscience 135:627-638.

Chai Y, Lin YF (2010) Stimulation of neuronal KATP channels by cGMP-dependent protein kinase: involvement of ROS and 5-hydroxydecanoate-sensitive factors in signal transduction. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 298:C875-C892.

Chemelli RM, Willie JT, Sinton CM, Elmquist JK, Scammell T, Lee C, Richardson JA, Williams SC, Xiong Y, Kisanuki Y, Fitch TF, Nakazato M, Hammer RF, Saper CB, Yanagisawa M

(1999) Narcolepsy in orexin knockout mice: molecular genetics of sleep regulation. Cell 98:437-451.

Chen CL Dun SL, Kwok FH, Dun NJ, Chang JK (1999) Orexin A-like immunoreactivity in the rat brain. Neurosci Lett 260:161-164.

Chen Y, Hu C, Hsu CK, Zhang Q, Bi C, Asnicar M, Hsiung HM, Fox N, Slieker LJ, Yang DD, Heiman ML, Shi Y (2002) Fargeted disruption of the melanin-concentrating hormone receptor-1 results in hyperphagia and resistance to diet-induced obesity. Endocrinology 143:2469-2477.

Choi DL, Davis JF, Fitzgerald ME, Benoit SC (2010) The role of orexin-A in food motivation, reward-based feeding behavior and food-induced neuronal activation in rats. Neuroscience 167:11-20.

Clapham DE (2003) TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426:517-524.

Clark JT, Kalra PS, Crowley WR, Kalra SP (1984) Neuropeptide Y and human pancreatic polypeptide stimulate feeding behavior in rats. Endocrinology 115:427-429.

Clegg DJ, Air EL, Woods SC, Seeley RJ (2002) Eating elicited by orexin-a, but not melaninconcentrating hormone, is opioid mediated. Endocrinology 143:2995-3000.

Cluderay JE, Harrison DC, Hervieu GJ (2002) Protein distribution of the orexin-2 receptor in the rat central nervous system. Regul Pept 104:131-144.

Conti B, Sanchez-Alavez M, Winsky-Sommerer R, Morale MC, Lucero J, Brownell S, Fabre V, Huitron-Resendiz S, Henriksen S, Zorrilla EP, de Lecea I, Bartfai I (2006) Transgenic mice with a reduced core body temperature have an increased life span. Science 314:825-828.

Cook DL, Satin I S, Ashford ML, Hales CN (1988) ATP-sensitive K+ channels in pancreatic beta-cells. Spare-channel hypothesis. Diabetes 37:495-498.

Cortright DN, Szallasi A (2004) Biochemical pharmacology of the vanilloid receptor TRPV1. An update, Fur J Biochem 271:1814-1819.

Daly M (2013) Association of ambient indoor temperature with body mass index in England. Obesity (Silver Spring). Advance online publication, doi: 10.1002/oby.20546

Dantzer R (2001) Cytokine-induced siekness behavior: mechanisms and implications. Ann N Y Acad Sei 933:222-234.

Dantzer R, O'Connor JC, Freund GG, Johnson RW, Kelley KW (2008) From inflammation to siekness and depression: when the immune system subjugates the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:46-56.

Date Y, Ueta Y, Yamashita H, Yamaguchi H, Matsukura S, Kangawa K, Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M, Nakazato M (1999) Orexins, orexigenic hypothalamic peptides, interact with autonomic, neuroendocrine and neuroregulatory systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:748-753.

Davies RF (1977) Long-and short-term regulation of feeding patterns in the rat. J Comp Physiol Psychol 91:574-585.

De La Garza R (2005) Endotoxin- or pro-inflammatory cytokine-induced sickness behavior as an animal model of depression: focus on anhedonia. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 29:761-770.

De La Garza R. Fabrizio KR. Radoi GF. Vlad L. Asnis GM (2004) The non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug diclofenae sodium attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced alterations to reward behavior and corticosterone release. Behav Brain Res 149:77-85.

de la Pena E. Malkia A. Cabedo H. Belmonte C. Viana F (2005) The contribution of TRPM8 channels to cold sensing in mammalian neurones. J Physiol 567:415-426.

de Lecea L, Kilduff TS, Peyron C, Gao X, Foye PE, Danielson PE, Fukuhara C, Battenberg EL, Gautvik VT, Bartlett FS, Frankel WN, van den Pol AN, Bloom FE, Gautvik KM, Suteliffe JG (1998) The hypocretins: hypothalamus-specific peptides with neuroexcitatory activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:322-327.

De Vries J, Strubbe JH, Wildering WC, Gorter JA, Prins AJ (1993) Patterns of body temperature during feeding in rats under varying ambient temperatures. Physiol Behav 53:229-235.

Debons AF, Siclari E, Das KC, Fuhr B (1982) Gold thioglucose-induced hypothalamic damage, hyperphagia, and obesity: dependence on the adrenal gland. Endocrinology 110:2024-2029.

Delgado JM, Anand BK (1953) Increase of food intake induced by electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus. Am J Physiol 172:162-168.

Detimary P, Jonas JC, Henquin JC (1996) Stable and diffusible pools of nucleotides in pancreatic islet cells. Endocrinology 137:4671-4676.

Diano S, Matthews RT, Patrylo P, Yang L, Beal MF, Barnstable CJ, Horvath TL (2003) Uncoupling protein 2 prevents neuronal death including that occurring during seizures: a mechanism for preconditioning. Endocrinology 144:5014-5021. Doyle MW, Bailey TW, Jin YH, Andresen MC (2002) Vanilloid receptors presynaptically modulate cranial visceral afferent synaptic transmission in nucleus tractus solitarius. J Neurosci 22:8222-8229.

Dunne MJ, Petersen OII (1986) Intracellular ADP activates K+ channels that are inhibited by ATP in an insulin-secreting cell line. FEBS Lett 208:59-62.

Edwards CM, Abbott CR, Sunter D, Kim M, Dakin CL, Murphy KG, Abusnana S, Taheri S, Rossi M, Bloom SR (2000) Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript, glucagon-like peptide-1 and corticotrophin releasing factor inhibit feeding via agouti-related protein independent pathways in the rat. Brain Res 866:128-134.

Edwards CM, Abusnana S, Sunter D, Murphy KG, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (1999) The effect of the orexins on food intake: comparison with neuropeptide Y, melanin-concentrating hormone and galanin. J Endocrinol 160:R7-12.

Elias CF, Saper CB, Maratos-Flier E, Tritos NA, Lee C, Kelly J, Tatro JB, Hoffman GE, Ollmann MM, Barsh GS, Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M, Elmquist JK (1998) Chemically defined projections linking the mediobasal hypothalamus and the lateral hypothalamic area. J Comp Neurol 402:442-459.

Ellacott KL, Cone RD (2004) The central melanocortin system and the integration of short- and long-term regulators of energy homeostasis. Recent Prog Horm Res 59:395-408.

Elinquist JK, Elias CE, Saper CB (1999) From lesions to leptin: hypothalamic control of food intake and body weight. Neuron 22:221-232.

Flzoghby AO, El-Fotoh WS, Flgindy NA (2011) Casein-based formulations as promising controlled release drug delivery systems. J Control Release 153:206-216.

Erickson JC, Clegg KE, Palmiter RD (1996) Sensitivity to leptin and susceptibility to seizures of mice lacking neuropeptide Y. Nature 381:415-421.

Erlanson-Albertsson C (2003) The role of uncoupling proteins in the regulation of metabolism. Acta Physiol Scand 178:405-412.

Fan Z. Makielski JC (1997) Anionic phospholipids activate ATP-sensitive potassium channels. J Biol Chem 272:5388-5395.

Fleury C, Neverova M, Collins S, Raimbault S, Champigny O, Levi-Meyrueis C, Bouillaud F, Seldin MF, Surwit RS, Ricquier D, Warden CH (1997) Uncoupling protein-2: a novel gene linked to obesity and hyperinsulinemia. Nat Genet 15:269-272.

Freeman WJ, Davis DD (1959) Effects on cats of conductive hypothalamic cooling. Am J Physiol 197:145-148.

Fregly MJ (1954) Effects of extremes of temperature on hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 176:275-281.

Funato H, Fsai AL, Willie JT, Kisanuki Y, Williams SC, Sakurai T, Yanagisawa M (2009) Enhanced orexin receptor-2 signaling prevents diet-induced obesity and improves leptin sensitivity. Cell Metab 9:64-76. Gaykema RP, Goehler LF (2009) Lipopolysaccharide challenge-induced suppression of Fos in hypothalamic orexin neurons: their potential role in sickness behavior. Brain Behav Immun 23:926-930.

Ghosh A, Ronner P, Cheong E, Khalid P, Matschinsky FM (1991) The role of ATP and free ADP in metabolic coupling during fuel-stimulated insulin release from islet beta-cells in the isolated perfused rat pancreas. J Biol Chem 266:22887-22892.

Gimeno RE, Dembski M, Weng X, Deng N, Shyjan AW, Gimeno CJ, Iris F, Ellis SJ, Woolf EA, Tartaglia LA (1997) Cloning and characterization of an uncoupling protein homolog: a potential molecular mediator of human thermogenesis. Diabetes 46:900-906.

Gong DW, He Y, Karas M, Reitman M (1997) Uncoupling protein-3 is a mediator of thermogenesis regulated by thyroid hormone, beta3-adrenergic agonists, and leptin. J Biol Chem 272:24129-24132.

Griffin JD, Kaple ML, Chow AR, Boulant JA (1996) Cellular mechanisms for neuronal thermosensitivity in the rat hypothalamus. J Physiol 492 (Pt 1):231-242.

Grossberg AJ, Zhu X, Leinninger GM, Levasseur PR, Braun TP, Myers MG, Jr., Marks DL (2011) Inflammation-induced lethargy is mediated by suppression of orexin neuron activity. J Neurosci 31:11376-11386.

Grossman SP, Dacey D, Halaris AE, Collier T, Routtenberg Λ (1978) Aphagia and adipsia after preferential destruction of nerve cell bodies in hypothalamus. Science 202:537-539.

Guler AD, Lee H, lida T, Shimizu I, Tominaga M, Caterina M (2002) Heat-evoked activation of the ion channel. TRPV4. J Neurosci 22:6408-6414.

Gunthorpe MJ, Harries MH, Prinjha RK, Davis JB, Randall A (2000) Voltage- and timedependent properties of the recombinant rat vanifloid receptor (rVR1). J Physiol 525 Pt 3:747-759.

Hagan JJ, et al. (1999) Orexin A activates locus coeruleus cell firing and increases arousal in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:10911-10916.

Hammel HT, Hardy JD, Fusco MM (1960) Thermoregulatory responses to hypothalamic cooling in unanesthetized dogs. Am J Physiol 198:481-486.

Hardy JD, Hellon RF, Sutherland K (1964) Temperature-sensitive neurones in the dog's hypothalamus. J Physiol 175:242-253.

Haynes AC, Chapman H, Taylor C, Moore GB, Cawthorne MA, Tadayyon M, Clapham JC, Arch JR (2002) Anorectic, thermogenic and anti-obesity activity of a selective orexin-1 receptor antagonist in ob/ob mice. Regul Pept 104:153-159.

Haynes AC, Jackson B, Chapman H, Tadayyon M, Johns A, Porter RA, Arch JR (2000) A selective orexin-1 receptor antagonist reduces food consumption in male and female rats. Regul Pept 96:45-51.

Haynes AC, Jackson B, Overend P, Buckingham RE, Wilson S, Tadayyon M, Arch JR (1999) Effects of single and chronic intracerebroventricular administration of the orexins on feeding in the rat. Peptides 20:1099-1105. Hervieu GJ, Cluderay JF, Harrison DC, Roberts JC, Leslie RA (2001) Gene expression and protein distribution of the orexin-1 receptor in the rat brain and spinal cord. Neuroscience 103:777-797.

Hilgemann DW, Ball R (1996) Regulation of cardiac Na+,Ca2+ exchange and KATP potassium channels by PIP2. Science 273:956-959.

Hill JW (2012) PVN pathways controlling energy homeostasis. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 16:S627-S636.

Himms-Hagen J (1984) Brown adipose tissue thermogenesis, energy balance, and obesity. Can J Biochem Cell Biol 62:610-617.

Hopkins WF, Fatherazi S, Peter-Riesch B, Corkey BE, Cook DL (1992) Two sites for adeninenucleotide regulation of ATP-sensitive potassium channels in mouse pancreatic beta-cells and HIT cells. J Membr Biol 129:287-295.

Hori A, Minato K, Kobayashi S (1999) Warming-activated channels of warm-sensitive neurons in rat hypothalamic slices. Neurosci Lett 275:93-96.

Hori T (1991) An update on thermosensitive neurons in the brain: from cellular biology to thermal and non-thermal homeostatic functions. Jpn J Physiol 41:1-22.

Hori T. Nakashima T. Kiyohara T. Shibata M. Hori N (1980) Effect of calcium removal on thermosensitivity of preoptic neurons in hypothalamic slices. Neurosci Lett 20:171-175.

Horvath H., Warden CH, Hajos M, Lombardi A, Goglia F, Diano S (1999) Brain uncoupling protein 2: uncoupled neuronal mitochondria predict thermal synapses in homeostatic centers. J Neurosci 19:10417-10427.

Huszar D, Lynch CA, Fairchild-Huntress V, Dunmore JH, Fang Q, Berkemeier ER, Gu W, Kesterson RA, Boston BA, Cone RD, Smith FJ, Campfield LA, Burn P, Lee F (1997) Fargeted disruption of the melanocortin-4 receptor results in obesity in mice. Cell 88:131-141.

Imai-Matsumura K. Matsumura K. Nakayama T (1984) Involvement of ventromedial hypothalamus in brown adipose tissue thermogenesis induced by preoptic cooling in rats. Jpn J Physiol 34:939-943.

Imai-Matsumura K, Matsumura K, Tsai CL, Nakayama T (1988) Thermal responses of ventromedial hypothalamic neurons in vivo and in vitro. Brain Res 445:193-197.

Imai-Matsumura K, Nakayama T (1983) Response of lateral hypothalamic neurons to scrotal and preoptic thermal stimulation in rats. Neurosci Lett 35:277-282.

Inenaga K, Osaka T, Yamashita H (1987) Thermosensitivity of neurons in the paraventricular nucleus of the rat slice preparation. Brain Res 424:126-132.

Inoue W. Luheshi GN (2010) Acute starvation alters lipopolysaccharide-induced fever in leptindependent and -independent mechanisms in rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 299:R1709-R1719. Ito M. Gomori A. Ishihara A. Oda Z. Mashiko S. Matsushita H. Yumoto M. Ito M. Sano H. Tokita S. Moriya M. Iwaasa H. Kanatani A (2003) Characterization of MCH-mediated obesity in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 284:E940-F945.

James WP, Trayhurn P (1981) Thermogenesis and obesity. Br Med Bull 37:43-48.

Jones DN, Gartlon J, Parker F, Taylor SG, Routledge C, Hemmati P, Munton RP, Ashmeade TE, Hatcher JP, Johns A, Porter RA, Hagan JJ, Hunter AJ, Upton N (2001) Effects of centrally administered orexin-B and orexin-A: a role for orexin-1 receptors in orexin-B-induced hyperactivity. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 153:210-218.

Julius D, Basbaum AI (2001) Molecular mechanisms of nociception. Nature 413:203-210.

Jung J, Shin JS, Lee SY, Hwang SW, Koo J, Cho H, Oh U (2004) Phosphorylation of vanilloid receptor 1 by Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II regulates its vanilloid binding. J Biol Chem 279:7048-7054.

Kakei M, Kelly RP, Asheroft SJ, Asheroft FM (1986) The ATP-sensitivity of K+ channels in rat panereatic B-cells is modulated by ADP. FEBS Lett 208:63-66.

Kanosue K, Nakayama T, Tanaka H, Yanase M, Yasuda H (1990) Modes of action of local hypothalamic and skin thermal stimulation on salivary secretion in rats. J Physiol 424:459-471.

Karlsson U, Sundgren-Andersson AK, Johansson S, Krupp JJ (2005) Capsaicin augments synaptic transmission in the rat medial preoptic nucleus. Brain Res 1043:1-11.

Karschin A, Brockhaus J, Ballanyi K (1998) KATP channel formation by the sulphonylurea receptors SUR1 with Kir6.2 subunits in rat dorsal vagal neurons in situ. J Physiol 509 (Pt 2):339-346.

Kawano T, Zoga V, Kimura M, Liang MY, Wu HE, Gemes G, McCallum JB, Kwok WM, Hogan QH, Sarantopoulos CD (2009) Nitrie oxide activates ATP-sensitive potassium channels in mammalian sensory neurons: action by direct S-nitrosylation. Mol Pain 5:12.

Keesey RE, Corbett SW (1984) Metabolic defense of the body weight set-point. Res Publ Assoc Res Nerv Ment Dis 62:87-96.

Kelso SR, Perlmutter MN, Boulant JA (1982) Thermosensitive single-unit activity of in vitro hypothalamic slices. Am J Physiol 242:R77-R84.

Kent S, Bret-Dibat JL, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (1996) Mechanisms of sickness-induced decreases in food-motivated behavior. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 20:171-175.

Kent S, Kelley KW, Dantzer R (1992) Effects of lipopolysaecharide on food-motivated behavior in the rat are not blocked by an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Neurosci Lett 145:83-86.

Kim H. Cui L. Kim J. Kim SJ (2009) Fransient receptor potential vanilloid type 1 receptor regulates glutamatergic synaptic inputs to the spinothalamic tract neurons of the spinal cord deep dorsal horn. Neuroscience 160:508-516.

King BM (2006) The rise, fall, and resurrection of the ventromedial hypothalamus in the regulation of feeding behavior and body weight. Physiol Behav 87:221-244.

Kiyohara T. Hirata M. Hori T. Akaike N (1990) Hypothalamic warm-sensitive neurons possess a tetrodotoxin-sensitive sodium channel with a high Q10. Neurosci Res 8:48-53.

Kobayashi S (1986) Warm- and cold-sensitive neurons inactive at normal core temperature in rathypothalamic slices. Brain Res 362:132-139.

Kobayashi S, Murakami N (1982) Thermosensitive neurons in slice preparations of rat medulla oblongata. Brain Res Bull 8:721-726.

Kong D, Vong L, Parton LE, Ye C, Tong Q, Hu X, Choi B, Bruning JC, Lowell BB (2010) Glucose stimulation of hypothalamic MCH neurons involves K(ATP) channels, is modulated by UCP2, and regulates peripheral glucose homeostasis. Cell Metab 12:545-552.

Konsman JP, Parnet P, Dantzer R (2002) Cytokine-induced sickness behaviour: mechanisms and implications. Trends Neurosci 25:154-159.

Krippeit-Drews P, Backer M, Dufer M, Drews G (2003) Phosphoereatine as a determinant of K(ΛTP) channel activity in pancreatic beta-cells. Pflugers Arch 445:556-562.

Kumar S, Sun X, Wiseman DA, Tian J, Umapathy NS, Verin AD, Black SM (2009) Hydrogen peroxide decreases endothelial nitric oxide synthase promoter activity through the inhibition of Sp1 activity. DNA Cell Biol 28:119-129.

Kurz A (2008) Physiology of thermoregulation. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 22:627-644.
Langhans W, Harlacher R, Scharrer E (1989) Verapamil and indomethacin attenuate endotoxininduced anorexia. Physiol Behav 46:535-539. Larsson O. Deeney JL, Branstrom R, Berggren PO, Corkey BE (1996) Activation of the ATPsensitive K+ channel by long chain acyl-CoA. A role in modulation of pancreatic beta-cell glucose sensitivity. J Biol Chem 271:10623-10626.

Lee MG, Hassani OK, Jones BE (2005) Discharge of identified orexin hypocretin neurons across the sleep-waking cycle. J Neurosci 25:6716-6720.

Levine AS, Morley JE (1984) Neuropeptide Y: a potent inducer of consummatory behavior in rats. Peptides 5:1025-1029.

Li DP, Chen SR, Pan HL (2004) VR1 receptor activation induces glutamate release and postsynaptic firing in the paraventricular nucleus. J Neurophysiol 92:1807-1816.

Lin L. Faraco J, Li R. Kadotani H, Rogers W, Lin X, Qiu X, de Jong PJ, Nishino S, Mignot E (1999) The sleep disorder canine narcolepsy is caused by a mutation in the hypocretin (orexin) receptor 2 gene. Cell 98:365-376.

Lin YF, Raab-Graham K, Jan YN, Jan LY (2004) NO stimulation of ATP-sensitive potassium channels: Involvement of Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway and contribution to neuroprotection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:7799-7804.

Liu ZW, Gan G, Suyama S, Gao XB (2011) Intracellular energy status regulates activity in hypocretin orexin neurones: a link between energy and behavioural states. J Physiol 589:4157-4166.

Lu XY, Bagnol D, Burke S, Akil H, Watson SJ (2000) Differential distribution and regulation of OX1 and OX2 orexin hypocretin receptor messenger RNA in the brain upon fasting. Horm Behav 37:335-344.

Lubkin M. Stricker-Krongrad A (1998) Independent feeding and metabolic actions of orexins in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 253:241-245.

Mailloux RJ, Harper ME (2011) Uncoupling proteins and the control of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production. Free Radic Biol Med 51:1106-1115.

Marinelli S, Di M, V, Berretta N, Matias I, Maccarrone M, Bernardi G, Mercuri NB (2003) Presynaptic facilitation of glutamatergic synapses to dopaminergic neurons of the rat substantia nigra by endogenous stimulation of vanilloid receptors. J Neurosci 23:3136-3144.

Marinelli S, Vaughan CW, Christie MJ, Connor M (2002) Capsaicin activation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the rat locus cocruleus in vitro. J Physiol 543:531-540.

Marsh DJ, Weingarth DT, Novi DE, Chen HY, Trumbauer ME, Chen AS, Guan XM, Jiang MM, Feng Y, Camacho RE, Shen Z, Fraizer EG, Yu H, Metzger JM, Kuca SJ, Shearman LP, Gopal-Truter S, MacNeil DJ, Strack AM, MacIntyre DE, Van der Ploeg LH, Qian S (2002) Melaninconcentrating hormone 1 receptor-deficient mice are lean, hyperactive, and hyperphagic and have altered metabolism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:3240-3245.

Matsuda J, Hosoda K, Itoh H, Son C, Doi K, Hanaoka I, Inoue G, Nishimura H, Yoshimasa Y, Yamori Y, Odaka H, Nakao K (1998) Increased adipose expression of the uncoupling protein-3 gene by thiazolidinediones in Wistar fatty rats and in cultured adipocytes. Diabetes 47:1809-1814.

Mattiasson G. Sullivan PG (2006) The emerging functions of UCP2 in health, disease, and therapeuties. Antioxid Redox Signal 8:1-38.

McKemy DD, Neuhausser WM, Julius D (2002) Identification of a cold receptor reveals a general role for TRP channels in thermosensation. Nature 416:52-58.

Me Faggart JS, Clark RH, Ashcroft FM (2010) The role of the KATP channel in glucose homeostasis in health and disease: more than meets the islet. J Physiol 588:3201-3209.

Mezey E, Toth ZE, Cortright DN, Arzubi MK, Krause JE, Elde R, Guo A, Blumberg PM, Szallasi A (2000) Distribution of mRNA for vanilloid receptor subtype 1 (VR1), and VR1-like immunoreactivity, in the central nervous system of the rat and human. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:3655-3660.

Mileykovskiy BY, Kiyashchenko LI, Siegel JM (2005) Behavioral correlates of activity in identified hypocretin/orexin neurons. Neuron 46:787-798.

Millet L, Vidal H, Andreelli F, Larrouy D, Riou JP, Riequier D, Laville M, Langin D (1997) Increased uncoupling protein-2 and -3 mRNA expression during fasting in obese and lean humans. J Clin Invest 100:2665-2670.

Mirshamsi S, Laidlaw HA, Ning K, Anderson E, Burgess LA, Gray A, Sutherland C, Ashford ML (2004) Leptin and insulin stimulation of signalling pathways in arcuate nucleus neurones: PI3K dependent actin reorganization and KATP channel activation. BMC Neurosci 5:54.

Misler S, Falke LC, Gillis K, McDaniel ML (1986) Λ metabolite-regulated potassium channel in rat pancreatic B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S Λ 83:7119-7123.

9.4

Monda M. Viggiano A. De Euca, V (2003) Paradoxical [correction of parodoxical] effect of orexin A: hypophagia induced by hyperthermia. Brain Res 961:220-228.

Morrison SD (1968) The relationship of energy expenditure and spontaneous activity to the aphagia of rats with lesions in the lateral hypothalamus. J Physiol 197:325-343.

Morton GJ, Schwartz MW (2001) The NPY AgRP neuron and energy homeostasis. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 25 Suppl 5:856-862.

Musella A, De C, V, Rossi S, Prosperetti C, Bernardi G, Macearrone M, Centonze D (2009) TRPV1 channels facilitate glutamate transmission in the striatum. Mol Cell Neurosci 40:89-97.

Nakamura K (2011) Central circuitries for body temperature regulation and fever. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 301:R1207-R1228.

Nakatsuka T, Furue H, Yoshimura M, Gu JG (2002) Activation of central terminal vanilloid receptor-1 receptors and alpha beta-methylene-ATP-sensitive P2X receptors reveals a converged synaptic activity onto the deep dorsal horn neurons of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 22:1228-1237.

Nakayama T, Eisenman JS, Hardy JD (1961) Single unit activity of anterior hypothalamus during local heating. Science 134:560-561.

Nakayama T, Hori Y, Suzuki M, Yonezawa T, Yamamoto K (1978) Thermo-sensitive neurons in preoptic and anterior hypothalamic tissue cultures in vitro. Neurosei Lett 9:23-26.

Nambu F, Sakurai F, Mizukami K, Hosoya Y, Yanagisawa M, Goto K (1999) Distribution of orexin neurons in the adult rat brain. Brain Res 827:243-260.

Negrete R. Hervera A. Leanez S. Martin-Campos JM, Pol O (2011) The antinociceptive effects of JWH-015 in chronic inflammatory pain are produced by nitric oxide-cGMP-PKG-KATP pathway activation mediated by opioids. PLoS One 6:e26688.

Nichols CG (2006) KATP channels as molecular sensors of cellular metabolism. Nature 440:470-476.

Nixon JP, Kotz CM, Novak CM, Billington CJ, Teske JA (2012) Neuropeptides controlling energy balance: orexins and neuromedins. Handb Exp Pharmacol77-109.

Nybo L (2012) Brain temperature and exercise performance. J Exp Physiol 97:333-339.

Okere CO, Kaba H, Higuchi T (2000) Importance of endogenous nitric oxide synthase in the rat hypothalamus and amygdala in mediating the response to capsaicin. J Comp Neurol 423:670-686.

Oldfield BJ, Allen AM, Davern P, Giles ME, Owens NC (2007) Lateral hypothalamic 'command neurons' with axonal projections to regions involved in both feeding and thermogenesis. Eur J Neurosci 25:2404-2412.

Oldfield BJ, Giles ME, Watson A, Anderson C, Colvill LM, McKinley MJ (2002) The neurochemical characterisation of hypothalamic pathways projecting polysynaptically to brown adipose tissue in the rat. Neuroscience 110:515-526.

Oomura Y (1988) Chemical and neuronal control of feeding motivation. Physiol Behav 44:555-560.
Oomura Y, Ooyama H, Yamamoto T, Naka F (1967) Reciprocal relationship of the lateral and ventromedial hypothalamus in the regulation of food intake. Physiology & Behavior 2:97-115.

Park SM, Gaykema RP, Goehler LE (2008) How does immune challenge inhibit ingestion of palatable food? Evidence that systemic lipopolysaccharide treatment modulates key nodal points of feeding neurocircuitry. Brain Behav Immun 22:1160-1172.

Parsons MP, Belanger-Willoughby N, Linehan V, Hirasawa M (2012) ATP-sensitive potassium channels mediate the thermosensory response of orexin neurons. J Physiol 590:4707-4715.

Parsons MP, Hirasawa M (2010) ATP-sensitive potassium channel-mediated lactate effect on orexin neurons: implications for brain energetics during arousal. J Neurosci 30:8061-8070.

Parton LE, Ye CP, Coppari R, Enriori PJ, Choi B, Zhang CY, Xu C, Vianna CR, Balthasar N, Lee CE, Elmquist JK, Cowley MA, Lowell BB (2007) Glucose sensing by POMC neurons regulates glucose homeostasis and is impaired in obesity. Nature 449:228-232.

Peier AM, Moqrich A, Hergarden AC, Reeve AJ, Andersson DA, Story GM, Earley TJ, Dragoni I, McIntyre P, Bevan S, Patapoutian A (2002) A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol. Cell 108:705-715.

Perełło M, Sakata I, Birnbaum S, Chuang JC, Osborne-Lawrence S, Rovinsky SA, Woloszyn J, Yanagisawa M, Lutter M, Zigman JM (2010) Ghrelin increases the rewarding value of high-fat diet in an orexin-dependent manner. Bioł Psychiatry 67:880-886. Peters JH, McDougall SJ, Fawley JA, Smith SM, Andresen MC (2010) Primary afferent activation of thermosensitive TRPV1 triggers asynchronous glutamate release at central neurons. Neuron 65:657-669.

Peyron C. Tighe DK, van den Pol AN, de Lecea L. Heller HC, Sutcliffe JG, Kilduff TS (1998) Neurons containing hypocretin (orexin) project to multiple neuronal systems. J Neurosci 18:9996-10015.

Piper AS, Yeats JC, Bevan S, Docherty RJ (1999) A study of the voltage dependence of capsaicin-activated membrane currents in rat sensory neurones before and after acute desensitization. J Physiol 518 (Pt 3):721-733.

Premkumar LS, Raisinghani M, Pingle SC, Long C, Pimentel F (2005) Downregulation of transient receptor potential melastatin 8 by protein kinase C-mediated dephosphorylation. J Neurosci 25:11322-11329.

Prescott ED, Julius D (2003) A modular PIP2 binding site as a determinant of capsaicin receptor sensitivity. Science 300:1284-1288.

Qu D, Ludwig DS, Gammeltoft S, Piper M, Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Mathes WF, Przypek R, Kanarek R, Maratos-Flier E (1996) A role for melanin-concentrating hormone in the central regulation of feeding behaviour. Nature 380:243-247.

Raatz SK, Bibus D, Thomas W, Kris-Etherton P (2001) Total fat intake modifies plasma fatty acid composition in humans. J Nutr 131:231-234.

Rampone AJ, Shirasu MF (1964) Temperature changes in the rat in response to feeding. Science 144:317-319.

Reichling S, Patel HV, Freeman KB, Kates AL, Himms-Hagen J (1988) Attenuated cold-induced increase in mRNA for uncoupling protein in brown adipose tissue of obese (ob ob) mice. Biochem Cell Biol 66:193-198.

Richard D, Huang Q, Sanchis D, Ricquier D (1999) Brain distribution of UCP2 mRNA: in situ hybridization histochemistry studies. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 23 Suppl 6:853-855.

Ricquier D, Bouillaud F (2000) Mitochondrial uncoupling proteins: from mitochondria to the regulation of energy balance. J Physiol 529 Pt 1:3-10.

Roberts JC, Davis JB, Benham CD (2004) [3H]Resiniferatoxin autoradiography in the CNS of wild-type and TRPV1 null mice defines TRPV1 (VR-1) protein distribution. Brain Res 995:176-183.

Rodgers RJ, Ishii Y, Halford JC, Blundell JE (2002) Orexins and appetite regulation. Neuropeptides 36:303-325.

Rosenbaum T, Simon SA (2007) TRPV1 Receptors and Signal Transduction.

Rosenthal M, Roth J, Storr B, Zeisberger E (1996) Fever response in lean (Fa -) and obese (fa fa) Zucker rats and its lack to repeated injections of LPS. Physiol Behav 59:787-793.

Rossi M, Beak SA, Choi SJ, Small CJ, Morgan DG, Ghatei MA, Smith DM, Bloom SR (1999) Investigation of the feeding effects of melanin concentrating hormone on food intake--action independent of galanin and the melanocortin receptors. Brain Res 846:164-170. Rossi M, Kim MS, Morgan DG, Small CJ, Edwards CM, Sunter D, Abusnana S, Goldstone AP, Russell SH, Stanley SA, Smith DM, Yagaloff K, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (1998) A C-terminal fragment of Agouti-related protein increases feeding and antagonizes the effect of alphamelanocyte stimulating hormone in vivo. Endocrinology 139:4428-4431.

Russell SH, Kim MS, Small CJ, Abbott CR, Morgan DG, Taheri S, Murphy KG, Fodd JF, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (2000) Central administration of orexin A suppresses basal and domperidone stimulated plasma prolactin. J Neuroendocrinol 12:1213-1218.

Sainsbury A, Cooney GJ, Herzog H (2002) Hypothalamic regulation of energy homeostasis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 16:623-637.

Sakurai T, et al. (1998) Orexins and orexin receptors: a family of hypothalamic neuropeptides and G protein-coupled receptors that regulate feeding behavior. Cell 92:573-585.

Samson WK, Gosnell B, Chang JK, Resch ZT, Murphy TC (1999) Cardiovascular regulatory actions of the hypocretins in brain. Brain Res 831:248-253.

Sanes J, Donovick PJ, Burright RG (1975) Consummatory behavior as a function of ambient temperature in septal-lesioned and control rats. J Neurosci Res 1:333-341.

Sasamura T. Sasaki M, Tohda C. Kuraishi Y (1998) Existence of capsaicin-sensitive glutamatergic terminals in rat hypothalamus. Neuroreport 9:2045-2048.

Schulze DU, Dufer M, Wieringa B, Krippeit-Drews P, Drews G (2007) An adenylate kinase is involved in KATP channel regulation of mouse pancreatic beta cells. Diabetologia 50:2126-2134.

Selafani X (1971) Neural pathways involved in the ventromedial hypothalamic lesion syndrome in the rat. J Comp Physiol Psychol 77:70-96.

Segal-Lieberman G, Bradley RL, Kokkotou E, Carlson M, Trombly DJ, Wang X, Bates S, Myers MG, Jr., Elier JS, Maratos-Elier E (2003) Melanin-concentrating hormone is a critical mediator of the leptin-deficient phenotype. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:10085-10090.

Sharif-Naeini R, Ciura S, Bourque CW (2008) TRPV1 gene required for thermosensory transduction and anticipatory secretion from vasopressin neurons during hyperthermia. Neuron 58:179-185.

Shimada M, Tritos NA, Lowell BB, Flier JS, Maratos-Flier E (1998) Mice lacking melaninconcentrating hormone are hypophagic and lean. Nature 396:670-674.

Shirasaka T, Nakazato M, Matsukura S, Takasaki M, Kannan H (1999) Sympathetic and cardiovascular actions of orexins in conscious rats. Am J Physiol 277:R1780-R1785.

Shoudai K, Peters JH, McDougall SJ, Fawley JA, Andresen MC (2010) Thermally active TRPV1 tonically drives central spontaneous glutamate release. J Neurosci 30:14470-14475.

Sikand P. Premkumar LS (2007) Potentiation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission by protein kinase C-mediated sensitization of TRPV1 at the first sensory synapse, J Physiol 581:631-647.

Smith MP. Beacham D. Ensor F. Koltzenburg M (2004) Cold-sensitive, menthol-insensitive neurons in the murine sympathetic nervous system. Neuroreport 15:1399-1403.

Smith PM, Lerguson AV (2008) Neurophysiology of hunger and satiety. Dev Disabil Res Rev 14:96-104. Spector NH, Brobeck JR, Hamilton CL (1968) Feeding and core temperature in albino rats: changes induced by preoptic heating and cooling. Science 161:286-288.

Stricker F.M. Swerdloff AF. Zigmond MJ (1978) Intrahypothalamic injections of kainic acid produce feeding and drinking deficits in rats. Brain Res 158:470-473.

Sutcliffe JG, de Lecea L (2000) The hypocretins: excitatory neuromodulatory peptides for multiple homeostatic systems, including sleep and feeding. J Neurosci Res 62:161-168.

Sweet DC, Levine AS, Billington CJ, Kotz CM (1999) Feeding response to central orexins. Brain Res 821:535-538.

Szallasi A, Blumberg PM (1999) Vanilloid (Capsaicin) receptors and mechanisms. Pharmacol Rev 51:159-212.

Takahashi K, Lin JS, Sakai K (2008) Neuronal activity of orexin and non-orexin waking-active neurons during wake-sleep states in the mouse. Neuroscience 153:860-870.

Teske JA, Levine AS, Kuskowski M, Levine JA, Kotz CM (2006) Elevated hypothalamic orexin signaling, sensitivity to orexin A, and spontaneous physical activity in obesity-resistant rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 291:R889-R899.

Thomzig A, Laube G, Pruss H, Veh RW (2005) Pore-forming subunits of K-ATP channels, Kir6.1 and Kir6.2, display prominent differences in regional and cellular distribution in the rat brain. J Comp Neurol 484:313-330. Thomzig A, Pruss H, Veh RW (2003) The Kir6.1-protein, a pore-forming subunit of ATPsensitive potassium channels, is prominently expressed by giant cholinergic interneurons in the striatum of the rat brain. Brain Res 986:132-138.

Готіпада М. Numazaki M, Iida I, Moriyama F, Fogashi K, Higashi F, Murayama N, Fominaga F (2004) Regulation mechanisms of vanilloid receptors. Novartis Found Symp 261:4-12.

Tominaga M, Wada M, Masu M (2001) Potentiation of capsaicin receptor activity by metabotropic ATP receptors as a possible mechanism for ATP-evoked pain and hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:6951-6956.

Toth A, Boczan J, Kedei N, Lizanecz E, Bagi Z, Papp Z, Edes I, Csiba L, Blumberg PM (2005) Expression and distribution of vanilloid receptor 1 (TRPV1) in the adult rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 135:162-168.

Tsujii S, Bray GA (1989) Acetylation alters the feeding response to MSH and beta-endorphin. Brain Res Bull 23:165-169.

van den Pol AN (1999) Hypothalamic hypocretin (orexin): robust innervation of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 19:3171-3182.

van den Pol AN, Gao XB, Obrietan K, Kilduff TS, Belousov AB (1998) Presynaptic and postsynaptic actions and modulation of neuroendocrine neurons by a new hypothalamic peptide, hypocretin orexin. J Neurosci 18:7962-7971.

Velasco M, Farque C, Gutierrez-Reyes G, Arredondo R, Sanchez-Soto C, Hiriart M (2012) Metabolic syndrome induces changes in KATP-channels and calcium currents in pancreatic betacells. Islets 4:302-311.

Vellani V. Mapplebeck S. Moriondo A. Davis JB. McNaughton PA (2001) Protein kinase C activation potentiates gating of the vanilloid receptor VR1 by capsaicin, protons, heat and anandamide. J Physiol 1:813-825.

Voets F, Droogmans G, Wissenbach U, Janssens A, Flockerzi V, Nilius B (2004) The principle of temperature-dependent gating in cold- and heat-sensitive TRP channels. Nature 430:748-754.

Westerterp-Plantenga MS, Wouters L, ten Hoor F (1990) Deceleration in cumulative food intake curves, changes in body temperature and diet-induced thermogenesis. Physiol Behav 48:831-836.

Wisse BE, Schwartz MW (2003) The skinny on neurotrophins. Nat Neurosci 6:655-656.

Woods SC, Seeley RJ, Porte D, Jr, Schwartz MW (1998) Signals that regulate food intake and energy homeostasis. Science 280:1378-1383.

Wyrwicka W, Dobrzecka C (1960) Relationship between feeding and satiation centers of the hypothalamus. Science 132:805-806.

Ning J. Li J (2007) TRPV1 receptor mediates glutamatergic synaptic input to dorsolateral periaqueductal gray (dl-PAG) neurons. J Neurophysiol 97:503-511.

Nu B. Goulding FH, Zang K, Cepoi D, Cone RD, Jones KR, Tecott EH, Reichardt EF (2003) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates energy balance downstream of melanocortin-4 receptor. Nat Neurosci 6:736-742.

Xu H, Ramsey IS, Kotecha SA, Moran MM, Chong JA, Lawson D, Ge P, Lilly J, Silos-Santiago
I. Xie Y, DiStefano PS, Curtis R, Clapham DE (2002) TRPV3 is a calcium-permeable
temperature-sensitive cation channel. Nature 418:181-186.

Yang ZH, Miyahara H, Takeo J, Katayama M (2012) Diet high in fat and sucrose induces rapid onset of obesity-related metabolic syndrome partly through rapid response of genes involved in lipogenesis, insulin signalling and inflammation in mice. Diabetol Metab Syndr 4:32.

Yaswen L, Diehl N, Brennan MB, Hochgeschwender U (1999) Obesity in the mouse model of pro-opiomelanocortin deficiency responds to peripheral melanocortin. Nat Med 5:1066-1070.

Yokoyama T, Saito T, Ohbuchi T, Suzuki H, Otsubo H, Okamoto T, Fujihara H, Nagatomo T, Ueta Y (2009) Ghrelin potentiates miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents in supraoptic magnocellular neurones. J Neuroendocrinol 21:910-920.

Yoshimichi G, Yoshimatsu H, Masaki T, Sakata T (2001) Orexin-A regulates body temperature in coordination with arousal status. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 226:468-476.

Zawar C, Plant TD, Schirra C, Konnerth A, Neumcke B (1999) Cell-type specific expression of ATP-sensitive potassium channels in the rat hippocampus. J Physiol 514 (Pt 2):327-341.

Zhang CY, Baffy G, Perret P, Krauss S, Peroni O, Grujie D, Hagen T, Vidal-Puig AJ, Boss O, Kim YB, Zheng XX, Wheeler MB, Shulman GI, Chan CB, Lowell BB (2001) Uncoupling

protein-2 negatively regulates insulin secretion and is a major link between obesity, beta cell dysfunction, and type 2 diabetes. Cell 105:745-755.

Zhang CY, Parton LF, Ye CP, Krauss S, Shen R, Lin CT, Porco JA, Jr., Lowell BB (2006) Genipin inhibits UCP2-mediated proton leak and acutely reverses obesity- and high glucoseinduced beta cell dysfunction in isolated pancreatic islets. Cell Metab 3:417-427.

Zhang W, Fukuda Y, Kuwaki T (2005) Respiratory and cardiovascular actions of orexin-A in mice. Neurosci Lett 385:131-136.

Zhao Y, Boulant JA (2005) Temperature effects on neuronal membrane potentials and inward currents in rat hypothalamic tissue slices. J Physiol 564:245-257.

Zheng H, Patterson LM, Berthoud HR (2007) Orexin signaling in the ventral tegmental area is required for high-fat appetite induced by opioid stimulation of the nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci 27:11075-11082.

Zschenderlein C, Gebhardt C, von Bohlen Und HO, Kulisch C, Albrecht D (2011) Capsaicininduced changes in LTP in the lateral amygdala are mediated by TRPV1. PLoS One 6:e16116.